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Tuesday, February 14, 2023
--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MR. MORAN:  We are here to hold a hearing into an application by EPCOR Electricity Distribution Ontario.  First I'd like to call on Ms. Ing to read the land acknowledgment.
Land Acknowledgement:


MS. ING:  Thank you.  Good morning, everybody.

The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishnabeg, the Chippewa, and the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Métis Peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.

We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on this land, and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Ms. Ing.

We'll take appearances now.
Appearances:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Perhaps I'll start.  James Sidlofsky, OEB counsel, and I'm here with Katherine Wang, our case manager for this proceeding.

MR. KING:  Richard King, counsel to EPCOR.  With me are the four witness -- my four witnesses, Mr. Koski, Mr. Hesselink, Mr. McCrank, and Mr. Burrell.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. King.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. GARNER:  Good morning, Mark Garner, consultant with the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, and I would also make an appearance for my partner, Mr. Bill Harper, who I believe is here but is not showing up on my screen.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Amanda Montgomery.  I'm counsel for Environmental Defence.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Ms. Montgomery.

We have one other intervenor, the Small Business Group.  Is there anybody here for them right now?  Apparently not.

Okay.  Mr. Sidlofsky, if you want to run us through hearing logistics.  You are on mute.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks very much.

Good morning.  As I mentioned, my name is name is James Sidlofsky.  I'm counsel with the OEB in this matter.  I'll remind parties that this matter is being transcribed.  The transcript of the hearing forms part of the record in this proceeding.

This session is also being broadcast and will be on air throughout the conference, except for breaks -- excuse me, throughout the hearing, except for breaks and those times, if any, where material that might be treated as confidential is being discussed.

Our hearing advisor, Ms. Ing, circulated the schedule for the hearing after parties and OEB Staff provided time estimates and areas of questioning.

The OEB will follow that schedule with regard to the order of questions, and as it stands, it looks like we'll he conclude within two days.

I would ask you to make your best efforts to keep your estimated -- keep to your estimated times and consider whether it will be possible to shorten those times, where other parties might have covered areas where you had similar questions.

Just a few reminders about technical matters, because this is a virtual setting.

First, I would ask intervenors who are not asking questions to mute their audio and turn off their cameras when witnesses are being questioned by someone else.

Second, while there is a chat function available on the Zoom platform, nothing in this chat platform will be recorded or appear on the transcript, so you can send messages to each other or to the group, but they won't be transcribed.

Third, if you haven't done this already, we'd ask that everyone ensure that the name they have associated with their picture right now is their full name, so that the court reporter can accurately record what is said.  And for intervenor representatives, it would be helpful if you showed the party you are representing as well.

Finally, for the virtual session, we ask that you repeat your name and whom you represent when you begin your questions or if you are stepping in to ask a follow-up question.  That will assist the court reporter in transcribing this matter.

We are planning for two ten-minute breaks in each of the morning and afternoon.  Shorter multiple breaks seem to work a bit better on a -- in a virtual setting like this.  We will have a one-hour lunch break.  Today's morning breaks are planned for 10:35 and 11:30, the lunch break is planned for 12:35, and the afternoon breaks are planned for roughly 2:50 and 4:10.

I think the afternoon break is -- one of the afternoon breaks is shown on the hearing schedule as 4:11 p.m., which is oddly specific so we will break sometime around that time this afternoon.

I will -- with that, I will turn things back to the panel.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.  Mr. King, I understand you may have some preliminary matters to...
Preliminary Matters:

MR. KING:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I have two.  The first is we would like to seek a one-week extension to file our reply submission.  It is currently due on March 20th, which gives us 11 days to process all of the intervenor submissions and right of reply.

There are a number of unsettled issues that are going  to be heard here, so we think we need the extra time.

We are not bumping up against any effective date that we have to worry about in terms of getting a decision out, and I just note a couple of the witnesses have children, and that time for writing reply spans the March break, so that's my first request.

The second is just a note.  You know, there are a number of lines of questioning through the course of the next two days that will refer to the utility and then the parent company.  

For the benefit of the court reporter, we sometimes refer to the local utility as EEDO.  That's E-E-D-O.  So when a witness refers to that, they are referring to the local utility in Collingwood.  We refer to the parent company in Edmonton as EUI, and that's just for the benefit of the court reporter.  


Those are my preliminary matters.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. King.  Mr. Dodds, would you like to swear in the witnesses?

MR. DODDS:  Yes, thank you.  I will swear in the panel as a whole and get each member to respond individually for the court record, where required.
EPCOR EDO INC.  - PANEL 1

Mr. Hesselink,

Mr. McCrank,

Mr. Burrell,

Mr. Koski; Affirmed.

MR. DODDS:  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Dodds.  So I will hand it over to you, Mr. King, for your direct.

MR. KING:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I thought we would mark a couple of documents as exhibits.  The first is the CVs, which were filed on RESS over the weekend and distributed to parties this morning.  I don't know whether anyone will refer to them in cross-examination, but we can give that an exhibit number.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  PANEL CURRICULUM VITAE.

MR. KING:  Then the second is two letters, a letter exchange between EEDO and the town of Collingwood, that is essentially a minor evidentiary update with respect to one of the issues that will be heard in this proceeding, and that is the DVA for non-utility billing.

I think we can give that letter exchange, the two letters, just one exhibit number.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  LETTER EXCHANGE.

MR. MORAN:  These letters are dated?

MR. KING:  So the first letter from the town of Collingwood to EEDO is actually undated.  it was received on November 20th, 2022.  The letter back from EEDO to the Town of Collingwood is dated January 30th.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  2023, right?  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. KING:  We have no corrections or significant opening statement, so I'm just going to get the panel to adopt their evidence.
Examination-in-Chief by Mr. King:

MR. KING:  So I will ask each of the witnesses, and you can confirm individually:  Was the application, evidence, updates, and all interrogatory responses prepared by you or under your direction?

MR. BURRELL:  Yes.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. KOSKI:  Yes.

MR. McCRANK:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And each of you adopt the evidence as your own this in proceeding?


MR. BURRELL:  Yes.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. KOSKI:  Yes.

MR. McCRANK:  Yes.

MR. KING:  I have nothing else, Mr. Chair.  This panel is available for cross.


MR. MORAN:  I think you are up next, Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Panel.  Good morning, witness panel.  I have a compendium that was filed over the weekend, and I am hoping we can mark that as an exhibit.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be Exhibit K1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION COMPENDIUM


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If that could be brought up on the screen.  Just for whoever is -- just to note, whoever is operating the screen, the page numbers that I will be referring to are the, they are both the page numbers at the bottom of the page but they also match the PDF page numbers so...  

Panel, I'd just like to start off by orienting ourselves with where we are in the application and what the utility is seeking to have the OEB approve.

Maybe the best place to start off with that is if we can go to page 5 of the compendium.  This is the revenue requirement work form that was filed with the settlement proposal.  Do you recognize that?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I just want to make sure I understand which column we should all be looking at.  It is the interrogatory responses, correct?  That is the --


MR. HESSELINK:  That's correct.  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if I see, if we go down to where we see the service revenue requirement, you're seeking a service revenue requirement of $10,323,818?


MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, that's a deficiency of approximately $1.323 million?


MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand what that means is based on your currently approved distribution rates you would collect about $1.323 million less than your proposed revenue requirement, correct?


MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I need to recover in rates 14.5 percent more than you currently do to meet your proposed service revenue requirement, correct?


MR. HESSELINK:  That seems correct.  I don't have the calculations in front of me.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you take that subject to check?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sounds about right?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's before we get to any DVA account disposition, correct?


MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And maybe we can turn to page 7, and just so you understand, this is the bill impact table that was included as well with the settlement proposal filed.  Do you recognize that --


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- this document?  As I understand, what the bill impact table shows is for an average or typical customer consumption at each -- consumption or demand at each class it shows the bill impacts in the different -- broken down in different ways?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When we look at subtotal A, that's really what's at issue in this hearing, correct?  These are the distribution impacts and the group 2 accounts, correct?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand, if your application is approved as filed, the increase you are seeking for residential customers with respect to that aspect of the bill is about 20.7 percent increase?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And for the GS under 50 class it is a 21.8 percent increase?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And for a GS over 50 it is a 41.1 percent increase, correct?


MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I take it because you are applying for it, it is your view that these are reasonable bill impact?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now in your customer engagement activities you did before the application was filed, and in development of your application, did you ever present these bill impacts to your customers?

MR. HESSELINK:  No, the customer engagement was largely done in advance of preparation for the distribution system plan so this information wasn't available at that time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Did you provide them with a range of bill impacts or an illustrative -- a sense of what the magnitude of the bill increases you were seeking were?

MR. HESSELINK:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if you had, what would you --  do you think would have affected the customer engagement activities that you had done or the responses that you got when you are showing bill increases at the low end of 20.7 and the high end of about 41.1 percent?

MR. HESSELINK:  Obviously that would have an impact, but I think the customer looks at the overall bill rather than specifically the distribution revenue.

We did also ask in our customer engagement survey that was done financial impacts and there was some -- I don't know, some appetite to have higher rates in order to trade off for better reliability.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you didn't present to them actually what the magnitude of the trade-off is?


MR. HESSELINK:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about some of the specific components of the revenue requirement, just so we understand how we got to the revenue requirement you are seeking.

And let's start with capital, and maybe the best place to do that, if we can go to page 17 of the compendium.  This is the appendix 2AB work form.  Do you see that?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.  Let me know thank you want me to zoom into something specific here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you also doubling?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's focus in on '21 and '22 and then the test year numbers.

When I take a look at the table and just so we're all clear here, while you're doing it, just scroll to the far left just so we have a sense of what you're looking at here, just for the panel.

I'm going to focus initially to the second-to-the-bottom category.  That's net capital expenditure, so that's all your capital expenditures after contributions, correct?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's scroll over.  As I understand it, at least for 2022 and in 2023 your net capital expenditures are the same as your net additions to rate base; do I have that right?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.  That was the assumption, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand in 2022, the forecast at the time, at least, is under the actuals column for 2022 hand that was -- you were --  do I have that correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, that's what's in the 2022 actual column, yes, right here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you are you were forecasting an increase of $3.69 million, approximately?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in 2023 you are forecasting 4.295 million; do you see that?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, right here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you are seeking, I get about $600,000 more?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct, approximately.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  16 percent more you're seeking in -- between 2022 and the test year, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's -- that's a material increase; you'd agree with that?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, this was a forecast at the time for 2022.  Do we know where we ended up at the end of the year for 2022?

MR. KOSKI:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.  So we haven't completed closing all the regulatory accounts for EEDO for the year, but our '22 spend will primarily be in line with what our forecast is with the exception of -- there was a bucket truck we were expecting to acquire before the end of the year, but due to some supply chain challenges, the timing of that got moved into the early part of 2023.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What's the cost of that bucket truck?  What are we talking about?


MR. BURRELL:  It would be just under 500,000.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's $500,000 --  your closing rate base for 2022 will be $500,000 less; do I take that?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.  But this is just a timing issue.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand.  I'm just trying to understand it from a rate-base point of view; there is a difference, you understand, from the amount being in rate base for the end of 2022 versus the end of 2023, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, and is there any other -- I mean if I asked you to provide an update to this table with the end of 2022 numbers, would you be able to do that?

MR. KOSKI:  We would be able to update once we finished closing our accounts and prepare the financial statements for the utility.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When is that?  I don't know your schedule.

MR. KOSKI:  Okay, sorry.  Yeah, we normally prepare our financial statements to align with filing our triple-R filing for the year, so sometime in March.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you must have unaudited end of year numbers, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Not regulated numbers at this point, just IFRS numbers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when -- going back to this table here, when I look at the DSP period between 2023 to 2027, I see you're planning to spend approximately, I get just over $4 million in net expenditures per year; do you take that subject to check?  Does that look about right to you?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in 2023, the test year, even putting aside the bucket truck, but even on your forecast here, is actually going to be higher than that average, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Than the average of 4 million?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, the average over the DSP period.  So as I see, you have a 2023 amount, and then it goes up in 2024, and then it goes down between '25 through '27?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you are not, you know, you are not levellizing or pacing the capital expenditures more evenly, correct, over the DSP period?

MR. HESSELINK:  That is something that's taken into account with the DSP, but there were some specific projects that are causing the increase in '23.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there is no other work that you could push throughout the DSP period to better pace the expenditure?

MR. McCRANK:  So, Mr. Rubenstein, we've tried to pace this out, so you are looking at about a $20 million investment over the five-year period.  We've attempted to pace this out at about approximately 4 million a year.  There are some projects in 2023 and 2024 that we need to get done that end up pushing that above the $4 million average, but I want to point out a couple of things in relation to that.

If you look at the system renewal, that's one of the areas where we really attempted to pace it out.  That's primarily led by our pole line replacement projects.  We can approximately accomplish $2 million a year of sister renewal pole line replacement projects.  That's planned from a standpoint of a resource loading combined with what we think we need to do to keep the reliability, so I just wanted to point that out.  If you focus on that line item, there is an attempt to pace that out, and again, in 2023 and 2024 there are some more lumpy projects that we need to get done early in this DSP period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So is the answer to my question, no, you can't do any more pacing?

MR. McCRANK:  We've accomplished the pacing that we think is necessary.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If we go to page 18, my understanding, this is a table that shows your rate base from your last Board-approved to the forecast 2023 test year; do I have that correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you are proposing a rate base of about $34.2 million; is that correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  It is approximate.

If this was taken from the exhibit, there may be a small update based on the IRS, but I think it is materially correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  We don't need the exact number.  I am just trying to get a sense of the magnitude here.

If we go up to the net fixed asset average -- do you see that?  That's line 4 there.

MR. HESSELINK:  Right here?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. HESSELINK:  Mm-hmm.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just so I understand what that is, that's the component of rate base that actually reflects the capital assets you're bringing in-service, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the remainder is the working capital?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what I see from 2013 to 2018, the first five years of the ten years since the utility's last rate base, I have an average net fixed assets that increased from about $15.6 million to about 19.5; do you see that?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in those five years your net fixed -- the company's or the utility's net fixed assets were about $4 million, 3.9 million?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then my understanding, EPCOR purchased the utility in 2018, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, the sale closed October 1st, 2018.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so after EPCOR purchased the utility between 2018 and 2023, the next five years, the net fixed assets grew from 19.5 million to about 31.1 million, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it is about $11.6 million increase in those five years?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so over the ten-year period since the company last rebased, the first -- you'd agree with me that the last five years is about three times the amount of growth in the rate base?

MR. HESSELINK:  Approximately, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we can go to page 23.

And as I understand, what line 5 shows me here on this table is the annual depreciation expense; do I have that right?

MR. HESSELINK:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I take it subject to the same comments you made with respect to rate base, there may be a slight difference, because this was from the pre-filed evidence, but it is materially correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, and what I see is between 2013 and 2018, the first five years since you rebased, the annual depreciation expense increase was about 850,000 in 2013 and by 2018 it was 941,000; do you see that?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then we go from 2018 from 2023, so the last five years after EPCOR purchased the utility, the annual depreciation expense goes from $941,000 to $1.69 million, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So based on my numbers, you can take it subject to check, the first five years' depreciation expense grew about 10 per cent and then the last five years increased by just under 80 per cent.  Do I have that right?  Does that sound right to you?

MR. HESSELINK:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Let me ask you with respect to OM&A, and maybe we can for that, jump to page 51.

As I understand, this is the 2J -- Appendix 2JA table, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we -- if I understand, based on -- it shows up there, different tables showing different numbers, but as I understand, whichever table you look at, the OM&A that you are seeking approval for in this application is approximately $6.53 million?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's about a 5.9 per cent -- or 5.6 -- sorry 5.6 per cent increase over the 2022 number?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the 2022 number was an 11.9 per cent increase over the previous year?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, let me ask you with respect to the 2022 number.  This again was a forecast that you had filed, I believe, when you filed your application.  Do we have an update on what that number is for the end of the year?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yeah, Mr. Rubenstein, again, we haven't fully closed off all the books and prepared the statements, but based on information from year end, the costs incurred are in line with the forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I ask you to update this table with unaudited 2022 numbers, are you able to do that?

MR. HESSELINK:  Again, we haven't fully closed our regulatory books, so not today.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't mean like this moment.  I mean as an undertaking would you be able to do that?

MR. HESSELINK:  Oh, yes, yes, we can take that as an undertaking, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, can you do that?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We'll make that Undertaking J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE TO APPENDIX 2JA AND APPENDIX 2AA WITH RESPECT TO 2022 YEAR-END ACTUAL.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to go back to the capital expenditure.  Is there a reason you couldn't do that one?

Is there some difference that I -- you seemed less willing to do it for the -- that you could do it when I asked about the capital expenditure number.  Now I'm a little confused.

MR. KOSKI:  So my apologies, I didn't understand that you had asked us to take an undertaking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Well, can I ask you then to -- and similarly -- and we can include it under the same number -- to update the two -- maybe the best one to update is the 2AA table for the 2022 actuals?

MR. KOSKI:  So I guess one clarification point I would need for that is, when would you require that undertaking by?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I'm not sure what the deadline on undertaking is in the proceeding.  Presumably when you file your argument.  I don't -- I'm not sure if there is a deadline.  I'm in the hands of...

MR. MORAN:  How much time would you need to meet the undertaking, Mr. Koski?

MR. KOSKI:  So, Mr. Chair, I would have to confer, actually, with my accounting team just to confirm when the regulatory books will be closed.  We can get back to you on timing.

MR. MORAN:  Okay, that's fine.

MR. KOSKI:  Capital does require a bit more regulatory leg work to get the regulatory books' close, as opposed to the operating expenses.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So then just so it's a little clearer on the record, the undertaking request is an update to Appendix 2JA and I'll say Appendix 2AA with respect to 2020 (sic) year-end actual.

MR. KOSKI:  Just to confirm, it is 2022 year end, not 2020?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  Did I say 2020?  I meant 2022, yes.

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will deal with all of that as a single undertaking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, let me ask you about -- I just want to make sure I understand the timing, because we did briefly talk about the purchase of the utility by EPCOR.  I want to make sure I understand the timeline correctly.

EPCOR purchased Collus Powerstream and I believe the deal closed in October 2018?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, October 1st, 2018.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And previously in that summer the OEB granted the approval of the MAADs application, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.  I don't recall the exact timing, but obviously in advance of this, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then this is the first application after the deferred rebasing period, correct?


MR. HESSELINK:  Correct, cost of service, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  And as I understand it during the MAADs application the OEB assesses the transaction in a MAADs application based on what it calls the no-harm test; is that your understanding?


MR. HESSELINK:  Correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me that the no-harm test is really asking would customers be worse off with the transaction, and if they wouldn't or they'd be better off, then the application passes the-no harm test.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, I would agree.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, in that application as I understand it, you put forward forecast spending through the first year after the deferred rebasing period; do I have that -- do I understand that?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, I believe it was 2019 to 2024.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, the purpose of that evidence was for you to help demonstrate that customers would be no worse off with the purchase?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And at least with respect to -- maybe we can -- while we're at it, just for ease maybe we can go to page 28 of the compendium.

And at least with respect to OM&A, your forecast you were going to project savings, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that was a big part of the application; you'd agree with me?

MR. HESSELINK:  I wasn't involved with the application myself, but it was a -- it is on the record here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when I look at capital expenditures, what I see in this table that you provided in the application, correct, was that you were showing what the status quo capital expenditure forecast would be, and then you show what EPCOR, what their capital expenditure and it's the same; do I have that right?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, based on the information available at the time, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I understand it is the same because you didn't forecast savings in the capital side of the business, correct?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, I believe it's documented in there.  I think it refers to it somewhere in there.  But yes, is the simple answer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the 2023 expenditure expenditures that you were forecasting at the time was about 3.3 million in capital expenditures?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as we talked about earlier when we were going through the capital expenditures, your forecasted 2023 capital expenditures that you are seeking in this application are about a million dollars more.  It is the 4.295 million?


MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So compared to what you told the Board at the time, your expenditures are about 30 per cent more; do I have that right?

MR. HESSELINK:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when we look at -- so the table shows 2019 through to 2024, and when I look at 2019 to 2023, would you take it subject to check that you forecast at the time $16.4 million in capital expenditures?


MR. HESSELINK:  Can you repeat that please?  For that entire time period?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, from 2019 to 2023.

MR. HESSELINK:  Sure, subject to check, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And against actuals, based on what you actually spent, my math was over the same period you spent or planned to spend in 2023 $19.2 million.

MR. HESSELINK:  Same response.  Subject to check, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Over that five-year period you will have spent about $2.8 million, or about 17 per cent more?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the actuals ultimately are what you're seeking to add to rate base, right?  It is not the MAADs application numbers?  It is what you actually spent or forecast or are planning to spend in 2023, correct?


MR. HESSELINK:  That's correct.  The MAAD application was a forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now as I understand you were required as part of the MAAD application to file a DSP, because I believe Collus had never filed one before; do I have that right?

MR. HESSELINK:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In my understanding they had drafted one and were planning to file one, but ultimately, because of the purchase, they never actually ended up filing one?

MR. HESSELINK:  That's right.  Yeah, it was a work in progress.  It wasn't completed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so as I understand, after the close of the transaction in October 2028, in late summer 2019, EPCOR filed a DSP for the utility; do I have that right?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that was covering the 2019 to, I believe, 2023 period, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  I believe so.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe we can turn to page 40 of the compendium.  This is an excerpt of that DSP; do you see that?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I look in this DSP, you were planning in 2023 to spend about $3.9 million in 2023 expenditures?

MR. HESSELINK:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And here we are, in 2023 and as we talked about before, you are proposing to spend about 4.295 million, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So about $400,000 more than what you were -- what you were forecasting in the DSP?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would you agree with me that over the five-year period of 2019 to 2023, or just looking at 2019 to 2022 of what you actual -- against actuals, you spent more than what you forecasted to spend in the 2019 to 2023 DSP?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, subject to check, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you take it, even in 2019 when you filed the DSP in the end of August, you end up significantly overspending what you even had forecast in that year?  I can walk you through that.

As I see on the screen you were going to spend about $3.3 million in 2019.

MR. HESSELINK:  Mm-hmm.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding, and we can go back to page 17, you spent $4.1 million.

MR. HESSELINK:  2019, yes, correct, right there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I spent about $835,000 more?

MR. McCRANK:  Mr. Rubenstein, if I may add some context to that.

If you look at the 2018 numbers, a very low spending year, and we attribute that to the uncertainty associated with the sale of the utility.  And so as a result of that, there were some projects carried over from 2018, completed in 2019 which would inflate the 2019 number, you know, for the purposes of this table.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So my understanding is you filed a DSP for the 2019 to 2023 in August of 2019.  August 26th of 2019.  You see it on page 39; do I have that correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  There it is, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so you couldn't even get the forecast for 2019 correct more than halfway through the year?

MR. McCRANK:  I think the forecast would have been based upon the best information we had at the time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that would have presumably included the things you were just speaking about, about carry-over of issues with respect to 2018, correct?


MR. McCRANK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  With respect to the 2019 forecast, where you forecast about 3.3 million, you end up even in that year spending more than you forecast, correct?

MR. McCRANK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's turn to OM&A for a second.  Maybe we can go to page 51 of the compendium.  Just to reorient ourselves, you are proposing the 6.53 million, correct?


MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  For 2023?


MR. HESSELINK:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's go to page 28 of the compendium, back to 2018.  this is the MAADs application.

As we see here, you did forecast -- you had a forecast of status quo forecast which I understand was, if it there was no purchase that would be the forecast for the utility's OM&A.  And then you had EPCOR's forecast, which would be what EPCOR forecast if it did -- if it was successful in purchasing the utility, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And online capital as we talked about, you did actually forecast savings in the OM&A component of the --

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- of the costs.

So for example in the 2003, in the test year the status quo forecast had spending of about 5.75 million, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And EPCOR was going to spend about 5.3 million?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, that's the forecast, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it is about 446 -- let's say $450,000 in savings for customers, correct?


MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And obviously what happened was very different, as your forecast OM&A is 6.53 million, as compared to either of those numbers, so as compared to the status quo, you're $778,000 or 13 percent higher, whereas with respect to the EPCOR forecast, $1.2 million more or 23 percent higher; do I have that correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we go to page 33 of the compendium, this is a response to an interrogatory from that MAADS application, 1 Staff 1.

And you were asked in part (d) to identify any risks that could negatively impact the cost savings in setting out the savings if those risks materialized; do you see that question?  Part (d)?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, (d), yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe we can flip and go to page 37.

So you are summarizing the risks in the preceding section, and then if we flip over to the next page, on page 38 we see a table.  Do you see that?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So as I understand, this is to show, essentially, if a bunch of risks materialized, what the difference -- what the new savings would be, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so from 2023, as I understand, the savings drop from what we saw in the other page, the $450,000 savings, approximately, to $300,000 savings, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so if we were going to utilize these savings calculations, your -- the updated OM&A that you would be forecasting would be 5.49 million.

That's just the 5.3, and that's a difference in the savings between the 446 and the 303.

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you're asking more than a million dollars in this application than what the -- let's call it the risk -- the risk-adjusted savings forecast would be, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we go down --


MR. KOSKI:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, just to clarify that, the MAADS application did not make any promise or undertaking with respect to hitting these OM&As.  They were based on a forecast, based on the best information that we had available prior to taking over full utility operations of the entity.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, and so just so we go back to this, on page -- on the screen here, and if we look at line 2, this is your discussion about this table here -- you say:
"EPCOR considers this to be a worst-case scenario and to be an extremely unlikely outcome.  The potential of any one of these scenarios underlying each risk taking place is considered modest.  Incurring the costs of all the risks is significantly less likely.  The worst-case scenario still identified a net savings of 318K by year 6 following the transaction."

Do you see that?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so I guess we got really -- we definitely hit more than the worst-case scenario, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Again, I'll reiterate, the forecast was based on the information that we had available as a result of conducting our due diligence, and we did include some cost efficiencies in the forecast based on the information that we had.

Ultimately, once we came in and started running the utility, obviously we came to the conclusion that some additional costs were required.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So as compared to the EPCOR forecast savings, the savings that are on the screen with the risk -- various risk materialized, the status quo forecast, the forecast 2023 OM&A is significantly higher than all those numbers, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So with respect to costs, customers are actually being harmed by the transaction, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  The costs are higher than the forecast that was part of the MAADS application.  I believe that the additional costs that are being incurred are to the customer's benefit, as lots of different services that were acquired for safe and reliable operation of the utility have been added since the forecast in the MAADS application was put together prior to the full acquisition of the company.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  EPCOR -- let me -- there is a large -- lot of companies within the EPCOR family, but EPCOR Utilities Inc. and its subsidiaries, they're sophisticated entities, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you operate, as I understand, I think it's EPCOR distribution and transmission -- or I may have the name incorrect -- it operates the distribution system, I believe, in Edmonton?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's obviously quite a significant -- it is a significantly sized city with a significantly complex distribution system, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct, yep.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand the companies or the EPCOR family, let's call it, they have various other affiliates in parts -- in Canada, and I believe also in the United States; do I have that correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, EUI would have operations throughout Canada and the United States.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when it undertakes a transaction, it does due diligence, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so it didn't do its due diligence here?

MR. KOSKI:  No, I would disagree with that comment.  We did run a full suite of due diligence.  

Obviously, this -- this particular acquisition would be on the smaller end of the scale compared to some of our other utility operations that we have.  But, no, I wouldn't characterize that we didn't do due diligence.

Due diligence, just by its very nature, Mr. Rubenstein, is inherently limited.  We would focus our activities on quality of the assets, quality of the operations, those types of things, and get as much information as we can around as much as we can on the utility.

It is not possible to fully understand the nature of the operations, though, until you get in and actually start operating the operations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, but when you said, you know, when you started operating and you realized -- and I'm paraphrasing what you said, so correct me if I'm wrong -- that you needed to spend more money, you did have -- it wasn't -- you didn't go in blind to the utility.  You had done some, and as you're saying, due diligence, before the purchase, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, now, as I understand EPCOR Electricity Distribution Ontario, the utility, EEDO, I think, is how you guys call it, it is a wholly owned subsidiary of EPCOR Utilities Inc.?

MR. KOSKI:  It would be an indirect fully owned utility.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And the utility has employees, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, the utility has embedded employees.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And of the four of you on the panel, who is actually an employee of EEDO?

MR. HESSELINK:  It would be myself, Tim Hesselink, and Ted Burrell.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And as I understand, services are provided to the utility from its affiliates, that being EPCOR Water Services Inc., EPCOR Distribution/Transmission, EPCOR Ontario Operations Management, and EPCOR Ontario Utilities, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Sorry, can you say that list again, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  Well, as I understand, just take it to eye level, as I understand, in the application you talk about affiliate shared services and you talk about corporate shared services, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And with respect to affiliate shared services, as I understand EEDO -- this is the EEDO or the utility -- gets --


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- services from EPCOR Water Services Inc., EPCOR Distribution and Transmission, EPCOR Ontario Operations Management, and EPCOR Ontario Utilities Inc.?

MR. KOSKI:  So the list is correct.  Maybe one clarification.  EPCOR Ontario Utilities Inc. would be the predecessor to the EOOMI entity.  The individuals who were providing services to EEDO moved from one legal entity to another legal entity.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And then as we -- so those what are what you called affiliate shared services, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then in addition EPCOR gets services from its parent, EPCOR Utilities Inc., and that's what you call corporate shared services, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And maybe we can go to page 53 of the compendium.

So this is from interrogatory 4 SEC 32, and first it shows a table of some of the things we talked about, we talked through, but part (a) asks you to explain some of the reasons for the variance from what you forecast in the MAADS application and your actuals for 2023; do you see that?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And then you provide over the 
next couple of -- next two pages, essentially, a number of bullet points, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I just want to talk through some of those with you.

First, the first bullet point talks about how the CEO position you had thought at the time was going to be replaced in part by the vice-president Ontario region; I do understand that?  

Just to back up, as I understand, instead of a full-time CEO you would have the vice-president Ontario would take on that role but would be doing other things, so the cost to the utility would not be -- we wouldn't have the full cost.  That's the first part of that.  Am I reading that correctly?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes.  That was the assumption made in the MAAD application forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that part turned out obviously not to be correct.  You could not only replace part of the CEO?

MR. KOSKI:  Mr. Rubenstein, no, that is not correct.  The utility currently does not have a full-time -- one full-time-equivalent CEO position.  Service is provided by one of the affiliates.  That's the EOOMI replaces the CEO full-time-equivalent with approximately .6 of an FTE.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you have, as I understand, you also had to bring on a director of Ontario operations?

MR. KOSKI:  So within that 0.6 FTE would be all of the management oversight activities that would replace the CEO position.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that was partially offset by I believe a removal -- there was a position called manager hydro services?

MR. KOSKI:  So I would clarify, it actually is offset -- it offsets the CEO position with which the utility did not bring back on and historically had.

The hydro manager position, which was a discussion in -- wasn't specifically included in the MAADs application.  That position was re-purposed -- sorry, just give me a -- sorry.


The general manager position, the person who was previously in that manager hydro position moved into the general manager position and the hydro manager position wasn't replaced.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, was the general manager position there before?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there was a CEO and then a general manager and then a manager hydro services?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct, correct.  And that was organizational structure prior to EPCOR acquiring the utility.

So, to restate the answer to the question that you asked, Mr. Rubenstein, the two positions that you noted that are providing management oversight from the Ontario affiliate for approximately 0.6 FTE replaced the CEO position that was previously part of the utility as one head count and one FTE.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And as I understand the next bullet point says you had forecasted assumptions regarding IT and financial savings through cost splitting with affiliates which did not materialize.

Do you see that?


MR. KOSKI:  Yeah, yes, no, I see that, Mr. Rubenstein.  So some of the forecast assumptions that were put into the MAAD application with respect to cost efficiencies that were -- that we hoped to attain did relate to those IT and finance areas.

Once we -- And I believe the MAAD application also did note that there would probably be a bit of a transitory period where we would have to undertake to see how that forecast could come to bear.  and so that was part of the risk they mentioned.

As we operated the utility over the first couple of years since EPCOR took over, or since EUI took over, it became pretty clear that those cost efficiencies couldn't be met, that those positions were being fully consumed with utility activities.  And so those particular ones were not achieved.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what you had done, as I understand then -- sorry I'm going to say what I think, how I interpret the evidence and you can tell me if I'm incorrect about that.

What you are saying is with respect to IT and finance, you moved to this shared services model or corporate services model for these functions with the expectation that there would be these efficiencies and ultimately they didn't materialize.

MR. KOSKI:  So I wouldn't categorize it that way.

As part of the MAAD application I believe what the assumption was is that some of these services that were previously embedded within the utility, those people could -- would have capacity or ability to either become part of the shared service model or would have capacity to undertake other services, thereby reducing essentially the full-time equivalent of the embedded people.

Once we began to operate the utility -- and we did monitor this over a couple of years, because obviously management was fully aware of the MAAD application -- it became very evident that, for example, I'll take one of your examples on the finance area, the utility as we acquired it, had a CFO position and that was the only technical accounting position that the utility had.

So the MAAD application assumed that that position could maybe take on some further accountabilities within EPCOR's Ontario region.

Very quickly afterwards, I came to realize that as operations began, that that position was fully consumed in utility operations.  There is a lot of undertakings from a regulatory perspective that they obviously had to do, and that position was fully consumed.  

I will also note that historically the utility actually did have a controller position as well.  So having at least two technical accounting people.  That controller position wasn't filled subsequent to EPCOR acquiring the utility.  But the CFO position, now a senior management position under EPCOR, was fully consumed and probably in most respects more than fully consumed with day-to-day utility operations for EEDO.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If can I ask you to turn to page 57 of the compendium.  Go down here.

This is from the pre-settlement clarification questions that were attached to the settlement proposal on the record.

So, in part (b) we asked you:  

"Please provide the totality amount that EEDO spent, forecasts to spend on IT/GIS OM&A and finance regulatory OM&A work for each year between 2017 and 2023, regardless of how the work was procured, internal external affiliate, corporate, et cetera."

Do you see that?


MR. KOSKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we take a look, if we take a look -- let's start with the first column there in the table IT/GIS.

It says beginning in 2019 when EPCOR takes over, the costs go up pretty significantly; do you agree?


MR. KOSKI:  Based on the table, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when the company takes over and moves to its new model, its shared services model, its corporate services model with respect to IT and GIS, it's not just that you didn't get any savings as you expected, the costs dramatically increased; do I have that correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.  But one thing I will note, though.  As a result of the change in bringing on the corporate cost modules and the shared service costs that we do there, there were additional services being provided as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But that wasn't the attempt.  That wasn't the purpose, right?  The main purpose was to essentially you were going to attempt to save money by moving to this model, and then for the reasons you talked about, they didn't materialize, correct?


MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So then we can say that with respect to IT and GIS, customers are now in the position of paying more than they otherwise would have, based on the way that you, EEDO had operated the shared services corporate model with respect to IT, correct?


MR. KOSKI:  I can't say that I can agree with that.  I just, knowing exactly what the former owners would have done, I'd only be speculating, so I can't say that with any certainty.

However, what I can say is since EPCOR took over, we believe the embedded IT services or the embedded IT people within the utility itself have continued to have been fully engrossed or primarily fully engrossed.

There is a little bit of cost offset.  They do provide some services to other affiliates within Ontario, but primarily consumed with day-to-day IT activities for the 
utility required for safe and reliable operation of the system.  And the IT services provided from EPCOR affiliates provides services in addition to what would have been provided historically to Collingwood customers, and we feel, and the utility feels, that these additional services are a benefit to the customer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just before we finish up before the break, as I look at the second line, finance and regulatory, I see an increase between 2018 and then 2019; do you see that?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then an increase all the way from 2019 to where obviously we are in 2023, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So similarly, after the utility -- after EPCOR purchased the utility and then moved to its shared-services model, it's not just that the -- that savings weren't achieved than what you had forecasted, but the actual absolute cost increased, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Absolute cost increased, yeah.  However, within these costs there is a new suite of services that were added that the utility customers did not have access to through embedded resources before.  So, yes, there was an increase in cost, but there was an increase in services as well, and those increase in services have been to the benefit of the customer and the safe and reliable operations of the utility.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we take a look at the 20 -- sorry, the 2018 finance and regulatory, you would agree with me that 2018 was obviously a busy year for the finance and regulatory staff.  We had the MAADS application, there was the purchase the utility, and I would assume they were quite engaged in those activities,  correct?

MR. KOSKI:  I assume that they were quite engaged with it.  Again, I can't speak to their activities before our ownership period, but I would assume that they were quite engaged.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so 2018 may not actually even be a representative year, and we should actually look back to 2017, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Umm... I would say no to that.  2017 also included the time of transition for staff.  There was a gap, and that's when I was hired, was in May of 2017, and so there was a gap in between there, so that might not be a good representation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MR. KOSKI:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, I will also note there were no resources in 2018 that more came to bear, the resources that were included in the 2018 costs would have continued along under EPCOR's ownership, so there wasn't temp support brought in or anything like that, but essentially the staff did the extra work on their own backs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But we agree that, putting that aside, between 2018, obviously, the amounts went up materially after the purchase, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  I think I've already answered, but, yes, the costs have increased, as have the services  being provided.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, I think this is a good time to take the first break.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  So we will adjourn until 10:45.
--- Recess taken at 10:35 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:47 a.m.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we go back to page 54 of the compendium.  And just to orient ourselves, this is back to the IR asking about the difference of costs between what you forecast in the MAAD application and what actually occurred, and for what work has to occur.

I want to focus on the third bullet point for a second here.  You say, you say:
"Higher corporate shared services due to higher costs from adding additional corporate services since the forecast was prepared and higher corporate costs allocation percentages than contemplated in the original forecast."

Do you see that.

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to back up for a second, and again we're talking about corporate costs, we are talking about costs allocated from EUI, that's EPCOR utilities Inc., that's the parent, correct?


MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in my understanding, at a high level, there are two ways in which corporate costs are allocated to EEDO, the utility.  There are some costs that are directly attributable, and I believe that is IT.  Do I have that correct?  That is the first one?


MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the rest are allocated -- different functions are allocated using different allocators, correct?


MR. KOSKI:  Correct, a combination of direct and more governance-related cost allocators.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So as I understand it, what you are doing is you are taking all the EUI costs and there are different allocators for different functions, and that's how they're allocated to all the subsidiaries, including EEDO, correct?

MR. DODDS:  Yes, that's correct.  I wouldn't say all of the EUI costs, it would be the EUI costs that are with respect to the specific shared service areas that are providing services to the subsidiaries.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, that's a fair clarification.

As I read the response, what you are saying here is that with respect to corporate shared services, they were higher than you had previously forecast in the MAAD application for two reasons:  One is there are more corporate services that are being provided, and the second being -- well, let me stop there.  Do I have that right, that's the first part, that there are just more corporate services being provided than you had forecast?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct, yes.  There were some new corporate services added after the MAAD forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the second, being higher corporate cost allocation percentages than contemplated in the original forecast.

That means that the amount allocated to EEDO of the EUI costs are higher than you had forecast?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.  In the MAAD forecast, we would have estimated the EEDO -- the various drivers that would lead to the allocation under the allocation methodology for EEDO.  And those were estimates based on the information that we had available at the time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there are really two parts, right, when you are doing an allocation.  One is what are the total pool of costs that are going to be allocated to the various entities, and then the second is how you allocate, what are the -- essentially what is the numerator and what's the denominator.


MR. KOSKI:  That would be correct for the corporate shared service costs that are allocated based on a non-direct methodology.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that most are on a non-direct methodology?


MR. KOSKI:  For services that are provided to EEDO, yes, that would be correct.  The primary direct charge allocations would be the IT direct costs, so correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can go to page 58.  Just if we scroll up just to 57 just so you can read the question that you were asked here.  


This was again, a clarification question SEC 5.

We had asked you to please provide a corporate service cost in each year between 2019 and 2023, broken down by additional corporate services provider provided, and higher allocation percentages as contemplated in the original forecast.  Do you see that?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's just what we were talking about, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, correct.  But again, to reiterate, this would be in comparison back to the forecast with the best information we had available at the time of the forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand.  Let's scroll down to 257.  There is a table.  Do you see that?

MR. KOSKI:  Sorry, just to clarify, this is the table on page 58?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, I see it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what I see -- let's take 2023 as an example.  Corporate service costs are $320,590 more than you forecast in the MAADs application, correct?  That's what that is trying to show.

MR. KOSKI:  Correct, subject to check.  I would have to refamiliarize myself with this calculation, but yes, I believe that is what this is showing.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then what is showing is about $32,790 related to additional corporate services, and the other $287,800 is related to EUI costs simply being higher than you had forecast, or essentially there is just a higher allocation to EEDO; do I have that right?

MR. KOSKI:  Just reading -- give me a quick second, Mr. Rubenstein.  Again, subject to check, yes, I believe that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the vast majority of the $320,000 approximately, $320,000 difference than was forecasted in the MAADs application for 2023, and compared to what actually happened is not about additional corporate services; it is just about higher allocation of costs to EEDO, correct?


MR. KOSKI:  Yeah.  Again, I'll say subject to check yeah, that's what the table is showing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand, in the -- EEDO is an important utility, and we're here because it is an important utility; but you'd agree with me in the grand scheme of EPCOR, EEDO is a small part of the -- company, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  From a size perspective, correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think it is something like .5 of the revenues come from EUI's revenue from EEDO?  Does that sound -- that's the ballpark we're talking about here?


MR. KOSKI:  Yeah, so the -- for example, in Exhibit 4 if you go to -- sorry, just give me a second.  I'll find the reference for the Panel's benefit.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Take you to page 87, I think maybe that's what you're trying to pull up here in the compendium.

MR. KOSKI:  Does the compendium show it?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There is a table there.  Maybe it's not helpful.

MR. KOSKI:  Yes.  Page 78 of Exhibit 4 in table 4.4.2-10 would give the Panel a relative idea of the size of EEDO compared to the rest of the EPCOR entities that are getting allocations from the corporate shared services.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's at page 86 of the compendium.  This is what you're looking at here?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct, yes.  That's the same.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the overall increase in -- so the overall increase of costs of the EUI that EEDO has to pay is really not being driven by EEDO, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Well, the overall costs being provided to EEDO would be as a part of being part of the consolidated group, and the services being provided to EEDO would be of the same benefit to EEDO that they would be to our larger utilities.  


So the size of our corporate group is based on the overall size of the utility operations and other operations that the corporate shared services are supporting.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand, but when all the areas that are being allocated not directly allocated are being allocated to EEDO, when those costs increase, the reason for those cost increases are not EEDO, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  On their own that's probably correct, but to the extent that the costs were to increase, it is usually the result of additional services being added to the corporate shared service suite, which EEDO would have access to as a part of the consolidated group.  

And if costs were to increase, say -- as the table on page 86 shows, EEDO would only be getting its relative portion of those costs which, you know, range between zero and say 1 percent on average.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you can bear with me for a minute.

Let's go to page 92 of the compendium.  So this is a table that shows, as I understand, based on the various functions, how much are being allocated EEDO costs to the -- sorry, EUI costs to EEDO; do I have that correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Sorry.  Just give me a quick second, Mr. Rubenstein.  I'm just flipping to the same page in my backup.  Okay.  Sorry.  My apologies.  Can you repeat the question, please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  As I look as at page 92 of the compendium, this is table 4.2.2-13.

What this shows is EUI corporate shared services cost by function allocated to EEDO, the utility.  Do I have that right?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, you have that correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What I see that between 2022 and 2023 there is a pretty material increase?

MR. KOSKI:  Sorry, between which two years were you comparing?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  2022 --


MR. KOSKI:  2022, yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then 2023, which is the test year, correct?  We see a pretty material increase in the allocation of costs from EUI to EEDO, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, those two years would show an increase, correct, as shown in the table and as explained in pages 85 through 87 of Exhibit 4.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, for example, we look at the different functions, we see incentive compensation, right, so what I see is that about $56,000 of EUI incentive compensation is being allocated to EDO, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct, yes, and compared to the '22 bridge year, that's essentially flat.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I don't know exactly how the incentive compensation is determined, but that's incentive compensation for EUI employees, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  That would be incentive compensation for EUI employees.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the --


MR. KOSKI:  And the EUI employees, of course, being, the individuals who were providing the corporate shared services.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I'm not sure exactly how they determine their incentive compensation, but presumably there is a corporate performance component of that.

MR. KOSKI:  A corporate performance, yes, so one of the measures would be essentially the cost efficiency of the shared-services costs.  So being within plus or minus within budget.

So one of their measures is providing the services at a reasonable price.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure, but presumably there is other sort of more general performance.

If the EUI performs well, that income -- you know, typical parts that would make up a corporate incentive.

MR. KOSKI:  Sure.  The overall general net income portion of the percentages is quite small.  It's 10 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  But just to be clear that's -- when we're talking about performance we're talking about EUI's performance, not EEDO's performance?

MR. KOSKI:  To clarify, just for that one small portion of the overall makeup.  The rest of the makeup would be with respect to metrics on how the groups are performing, their level of safety, things that would be very, very similar to metrics would be set up for an operating area.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.

MR. KOSKI:  Sorry, it took me a moment to flip to my backup within Exhibit 4.

The cost increases between '22 bridge year and '23 test year, they primarily relate in the information services area and HR areas, and they do relate to some additional services being added during the period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, but as we went back to the table in SEC clarification 5, the vast majority of the costs compared to at least the MAADs application are [audio dropout] about additional services, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Well, they would be a combination, and again, the MAADS application, being based on using drivers and information to -- the best information we had at the time of the forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Now, with respect to corporate services and what services that it would provide to EEDO, when the company was purchased did the utility undertake any analysis to determine if having EUI undertake these corporate services activities would be -- actually end up being more cost-effective or a greater benefit?

Was there any actual formal analysis undertaken?

MR. KOSKI:  No, there hasn't been any formal corporate costs study with respect to corporate providing these services, but one thing that we have looked at historically and continues to be the case, EPCOR is of the view that cost allocation of employees, generally speaking, is a much more efficient model than hiring third parties, because third parties have to charge profit, fully recover all costs.

In this -- in the circumstance here of the shared-service corporate allocations, we are literally just recovering the costs of these people to provide the services.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, my question is slightly different.

When it was determined that you were going to undertake this -- you were going to have certain activities not be undertaken by at the time the utility, but they would be done by EUI instead, was any analysis, any formal or maybe even informal analysis, undertaken to determine if, from the utility's perspective, if that was going to be more cost-effective, or was it simply the corporate parent said, this is how we operate?

MR. KOSKI:  No, there was no normal study, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so was it essentially just EUI said this is how this company operates and this is the services we are going to provide to the utility?

MR. KOSKI:  So being part of the EUI consolidated group, services are provided directly from the parent, and that is part of being part of the consolidated group of companies, so, yes, these services are being provided, but again, services from our perspective and from EEDO's perspective are services that the utility needs to undertake this operations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, Mr. Burrell, you work for EEDO, correct?

MR. BURRELL:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so in my understanding you were -- am I correct that you -- or maybe I have this incorrect -- you previously worked for Collus?

MR. BURRELL:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so when the company was purchased by EUI and there was going to be a change of structure, was that simply just determined from the parent down, that this is the new corporate structure, or was that sort of an analysis the utility, EEDO, determined on its own that this was the most cost-effective approach?

MR. BURRELL:  No, we got directions from the parent company.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you very much.

Now, with respect to affiliate shared services, and again, this is essentially services that EEDO gets from affiliates but not EUI, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct that those affiliates also pay sort of an EUI corporate cost?  They're allocated their share as well.

MR. KOSKI:  Correct, all the operations would have corporate shared services.

And then when -- so when those affiliates charge EEDO, in that cost is also essentially their share of those EUI costs, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, that would be correct.  The -- the affiliates providing services from Alberta are regulated utilities, so they are required to -- just as EEDO would be required if it was providing services to other affiliates, are required to pass along the cost of providing those non-utility services and the corporate shared services from the Alberta affiliates would include those costs and are required under their regulatory regime to pass those along to their -- for non-utility services offered.  So, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And maybe we can go to page 77 of the compendium.  So this is the -- as I understand, this is the -- this table, table 4.4.25, shows the responsibilities that are the various responsibilities of -- I want to make sure I have all the names of the affiliates, but this is the Ontario management company, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, yeah, this would be -- we refer to it in the filing as EOOMI, E-O-O-M-I.  Sorry, lots of acronyms, but yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine.  And it shows the various responsibilities and things that they provide and then how those costs are then allocated to EUI -- sorry, to -- yeah I'm getting confused myself.  How those are allocated to the utility EEDO as well as other entities that it maybe worked for, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct, yes.  So what we determined, as a -- well, what the management team in Ontario determined as we're building out our presence in Ontario was that a shared service model for these more boots on the ground types of services made sense, to undertake a shared service model, rather than having a directly embedded services within utility.  And the obvious benefit of a shared service type model is that utility -- the individual utilities can have less than a full FTE to get the services required for the safe and reliable operation of the utility.

So, that's what the EOOMI shared services model does.  It is essentially the shared services for EPCOR's Ontario operations, which include regulated and unregulated operations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And does EEDO provide services to other affiliates?


MR. KOSKI:  Yes, EEDO does provide some limited services to other affiliates in Ontario.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So for example, I've seen Mr. Hesselink in some other recent regulatory proceedings recently.

MR. KOSKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  He provides services to some of those affiliates?


MR. KOSKI:  The two primary areas would be, for Mr. Hesselink, for regulatory services, he is our regulatory person for all of out Ontario operations, as well as some of the IT people that are embedded in EEDO provide some services to the other affiliates.


The full cost impact of those as well as the FTE equivalents for those have been fully removed from the FTEs and operating costs in the application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How is -- I don't want to be specific here to Mr. Hesselink, I don't want to be unfair, but how are his costs allocated to the other affiliates?  What is the allocator?

MR. HESSELINK:  So the allocator is simply a weekly time card of the time spent.  So I allocate the amount of time spent each week to each of the three entities.

And actually, a portion of it would also go to the water and wastewater billing oversight as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When you I look here at the table, and I'm looking at the management company, Ontario's management company's allocation, I see a number of allocators but I don't see one that is time spent.  Right?  There is really for management over -- as I understand it is a one-third split between the revenue assets and headcounts and I see headcount for some, I see regulatory filings.  So there is no time for the other entity.

MR. KOSKI:  So, as explained in sort of pages 68 through the early -- sort of mid-70s in Exhibit 4, as the Ontario group has continued to build out its operations, we've been adding these shared services areas, and the regulatory, Mr. Hesselink's position, the amount being allocated out of EEDO is relatively small, whereas all of these other shared service areas that are on page 69, and on the compendium on the screen, these resources are being much more allocated across all of the -- all of the utilities.  


And as a matter of fact, from our experience, the types of services being provided lend themself quite well to functional cost causation.  So if you look at the examples, human resources, using a headcount functional cost causation is pretty -- pretty tried and tested.  Human resources provide services for people, so if a utility has more headcount it kind of goes without saying that they would spend more time on that particular operation.

But these people are providing the services to all the different areas.  And we believe that the functional cost causations and the more governance allocators are very good proxies for time -- for time spent.

As a matter of fact, there was a -- I don't have it at my fingertips.  I can find it during break.  There was an IR specifically asking about that, and we provided the information and it largely showed that compared to estimates of time spent, the allocators did hold up pretty well.


And obviously from an efficiency standpoint and a consistency standpoint, and knowing the types of costs that the utilities are going to get, a cost allocation methodology is better from those perspectives.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we go to page 69 of the compendium.

As I understand, this is just a table showing the total shared services and total corporate costs between 2019 and 2023, correct?


MR. KOSKI:  It is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I see a big, significant increase between 2021 and then 2022.  Do you see that for affiliate shared service?


MR. KOSKI:  Yes, I do see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I understand from the evidence that, in part, that has to do with a change in how you allocated costs; do I have that right?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes.  Correct, that would be in part.

As the -- as the total number of operations in Ontario have grown, we did decide to undertake to review if a direct -- or sorry, a cost allocation methodology could be found that was reasonable, and so we put that in place.


And that did result in some of the increases that are shown there.  


But I'll also note for the 2021 year, as indicated --here, I'll find the page reference for the Panel's benefit.  There was an inadvertent error in one of the -- in one of the costs that were charged across.

So, on page 88 of Exhibit 4 in table 4.4.2-14, the corporate asset usage fee had an inadvertent error for just under $100,000.

So the true corporate cost for 2021 actual should have been approximately $100,000 higher, reducing that gap pretty significantly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But regardless, even if we add $100,000, there is still a pretty material increase that was caused by the change in the allocation methodology, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  So partly caused, Mr. Rubenstein, partly caused by that, but also partly caused by additional services being provided, especially with respect to the affiliate shared services.  

So I'll just point out for the Panel's benefit, on page -- sorry, page 71 of Exhibit 4 in table 4.4.2-7, when comparing the 2021 year to the 2023 test year, the regulatory affiliate shared service was a new shared service that was added, as was the OT and SCADA support shared service.


And another item to -- is there another item to clarify?  No.  That would be the two new services that were added.

So it was a combination of some increases because of the allocation methodology, and the allocation methodology referred to the same table.  There were some pluses and some minuses, so on an overall basis, thought it reflected pretty well.  Plus the addition of some additional services that were not that previously provided and were required for utility operations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you are not disagreeing that a material difference is caused by the change in the allocation methodology?

MR. KOSKI:  I'm just looking at the table in Exhibit 4.  Certainly it is part of the cost increase.  I'm not sure if I would classify it as material, but it is part of the cost increase.  And those increases are specifically discussed and addressed in pages 71 through 74 of Exhibit 4.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we go to page 51 of the compendium, go back to 51.  This is the OM&A table.

Now, as I compare the operations and management line items and the non-operations management line items, when I look at the operations management and I look, compare against billing collecting, community relations and administration in general, what I see is a significantly larger increase in the billing and collecting, community relations, and administration in general.  So it's sort of that bucket as compared to the operations and maintenance as compared to 2019; would you agree with that?  I get a 13 percent increase in O&M and about a 15 percent increase in those other three categories.  Does that sound about right to you?

MR. KOSKI:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, we just want to make sure that we know exactly which -- which rows on the table that you are referring to.

It's not a hundred percent clear.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  I'm looking at the bottom table.  Really, it doesn't necessarily matter what table, but when I compare 2019 to 2023 --


MR. KOSKI:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- or 2018 to 2023, I see the significant driver in the increase in OM&A relates to the three bottom lines:  Billing and collecting, community relations, and administrative general, as compared to operations and maintenance.

I gave you numbers.  The numbers are less important, but I think we can just sort of eyeball it.  That's where the big increases are coming from.

MR. KOSKI:  Okay, yeah, the -- so the increase in billing and collections from about 975 to 1.1, I think -- I believe there's description of that within Exhibit 4.

I believe that's primarily inflation-driven.

Probably the one key point that I'll -- that I'll make with respect to what you've said there, Mr. Rubenstein, the administrative general category, perhaps incorrectly, I have to admit I wasn't 100 percent -- I'm not 100 percent as familiar with the US of A accounts, but we included all of our corporate and affiliate shared services all within one line item in that category.  So realistically, to do a bit of an apples-to-apples comparison to 2018 or the prior years to that, that bucket, especially for the affiliate services, probably should have been allocated back a bit to the operations and maintenance categories.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure, but you would agree with me that still the vast majority of those costs would fall under the billing and collecting, community relations, and administration in general?

MR. KOSKI:  That's likely correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And so, you know, compared to -- like, you know, we're going back to 2018, the 2018 OM&A versus the 2023 OM&A, let's use that, before the merger, the vast majority of additional costs that will be incurred are not what I would call operations and maintenance costs.  You're not doing more maintenance, you're not cutting more tree -- you're not doing more vegetation management; it is primarily in other aspects of the company, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Sorry, just one second.

Okay.  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.  So I think we would agree that a good amount of the additional costs are showing up through the administration in general line; however, would -- would also reiterate that within that line there would be a number of costs that would be more operational and maintenance in nature, things like the HSC person that gets allocated out of the affiliate shared services, things like the OT and SCADA support that are being provided out of the affiliate shared services.  So I would say a combination.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand.  But you would agree with me that the majority, once again, go back to that, the majority of those shared and administrative services, a significant majority, are not -- cannot -- you can't allocate -- they would not be operations and maintenance if you had done it by a better review of the US of A accounts, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Subject to check, yeah, I believe that's probably correct based on the US of A accounts that would be required.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we take a look up at the first table, you will see the subtotals -- this is the third row -- for 2023 you're forecasting about $2.6 million in O&M costs, right?

MR. KOSKI:  Okay.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you see that?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And I want to just understand, you as well, as I understand, as part of your DSP that you filed in 2019 also forecasted O&M costs, right?  Do I have that right?

You can see that on page 42 of the compendium.

Sorry, I didn't mean this to be -- it's not a trick question.

If we can go down.  Do you see that?  Do you see your O&M projections?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, sorry, we can confirm that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so you had forecast at the time to spend about $2.9 million in 2023 on O&M activities, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, that's what was in the DSP.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so you are planning to spend about $288,000 less on O&M activity?

MR. KOSKI:  Right.  So Mr. Rubenstein, that's the numbers that were included in the '19 to '23 DSP.

We will note that the '19 to '23 DSP was prepared as EPCOR was taking over the utility, and so had to largely rely on  work that was done up to that point.  And so this forecast would have been at the point in time based on what was known and what the previous owners of the utility would have expected.  And obviously we've updated our thoughts on these things and prepared a new DSP completely under the control of EPCOR and EEDO.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So when I look at 2019 to 2023, 2019 DSP, I see -- you can take it subject to check -- about $13.97 million in O&M cost.

When I look at what you actually spent with the forecast with respect to the table we were just looking, I get about $12.55 million, so I get about $1.4 million less that you spend on operations and maintenance in your forecast; does that sound about right?

MR. KOSKI:  Subject to check, yeah, that sounds about right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So compared to previous forecasts, the totality OM&A is significantly increasing, but the operations and maintenance amount is -- you actually spent less, so it seems to me more back office, less actual operation and maintenance work?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, yes, sorry, just one second.

MR. McCRANK:  Mr. Rubenstein, I would like to answer that a little bit here.

So first off, I think this does show, to Mr. Koski's point a little bit earlier, that there are some operational costs that are being captured within that administration in general line item.

That is our Ontario lovely affiliates where we've captured some shared services that are providing operational support back to EEDO, is likely there are some operational costs there.

That's why I think there's a difference between -- there are a material difference you're seeing between the DSP forecasted OM&A and then what our actuals are captured there ,so we do have some, as Mr. Koski talked about, health safety and environment costs at the EOOMI level, we've got the OT and SCADA costs at the EOOMI level, we have some engineering costs at the EOOMI level that are captured within that administration in general.

I think another factor, as you pointed out earlier, we have been spending much more on capital than we had previously forecasted.  And I think it is -- I think it is important to highlight, though, that -- so the reflection of that is that we're transferring from operational and maintenance costs to capital costs for the purpose of hardening the utility, renewing some assets, we've gotten better at delivering capital, as you identified earlier, which is something that the utility was   trying to do prior to EPCOR coming in.  They had plans to increase capital, were not able to execute on it.

As EPCOR has come in over the first couple of years of ownership, we've managed to get that engine running and managed to transfer some level of operational costs to capital, which is a -- which is a, you know, a better-in-the-long-run-for-th3-utility safety and reliable operation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So as CAPEX went up, O&M went down.

MR. McCRANK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's the opposite of what you say on this table, right?  On this page?  Because this page says -- let's look at the paragraph, one second, the paragraph above the table says:
"In general, incremental plant additions", and you have some examples, "will be integrated into the asset management system and require incremental resources for ongoing and O&M purposes.  This is expected to put upward pressure on O&M costs."


And then you provide -- and then underneath the table, it talks about for relocations and replacement of existing plant normally results in assets being replaced with similar ones.  So there would be little to no change to resources for ongoing O&M purposes.

So what is it?  Is it more capital lowers O&M costs or more capital increases O&M costs?


MR. KOSKI:  So, Mr. Rubenstein, I'll take that one.

So the '19 to '23 DSP had that language.  I think one of the clear benefits that EEDO has got from being part of the EPCOR group of companies is access to thought leadership from other very materially sized utilities.  And our other utilities have grappled with the concept of whether appropriate amounts of operating expenses are being captured as capital, what's appropriate to capitalize, techniques to be used to ensure and help the operations people understand and recognize when work is capital versus operating.  Because that could be a topic that operations people struggle with.


And so I think one clear benefit that we've seen over EPCOR's ownership period is a much better understanding from operations, in terms of what is capital and what should be recorded as capital transfers.  

And as a result of that, we've seen what we would characterize as a good trend towards making sure that we're fully capturing and utilizing our people when they're performing capital and where they can perform capital, while still ensuring that required O&M programs are being fulfilled.  

And again, even from that perspective on O&M fulfillment, being part of a large organization like EPCOR provides benefits in terms of being able to access -- sorry, pardon me, I think that came through, being able to access procurement more efficiently.

A big organization that spends on something, say like tree trimming, better ability to negotiate rates because we're doing vegetation management on a much larger scale as a company, as opposed to the utility itself.

So I believe the idea here is what we're still performing the O&M activities that are required for safe and reliable operation.  We've become better skilled and more knowledgeable in terms of how to transfer operating costs from O&M to capital to the benefit of operating expenses.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to make clear because you gave me two parts of the answer.

The first one sounded like an accounting reason, right?  You are able to -- the EUI has essentially been able to, with its experience been able to tell EEDO how to, you know, what are the accounting rules and when you can capitalise.  But in terms of dollars spent there is are no changes.

The second part I heard was -- and you can correct me -- was, you have better procurement processes so you can actually just lower absolute costs.  Am I capturing that?

MR. McCRANK:  Mr. Rubenstein, I think it's a combination of both of those.

I think it's important to highlight, take an opportunity, I guess while we're talking about the -- as Mr. Koski mentioned, EEDO's ability to deliver capital.

I just want to point out a couple of interesting facts here.  When we look at what Collus had planned to spend, they had wanted to spend $17.6 million in capital between 2013 and 2018.  Had only actualized 12 million of that.  

Since EPCOR has taken over, in 2019, as you identified earlier, the capital spend has increased, we had a target of 14.2 million and we spent the 14.2 million.

Another aspect to think about here is when we look at the statistics of net PPE, property plant and equipment per customer, the Collus utility had always been very, very low to its peers, and that's representative of -- really what that's indicative of is a low investment in the utility.

Even when with these increases in capital between 2019 and 2023 and what we project in '23 to '27, while it looks -- as you identified earlier, while it looks like a pretty big jump in capital compared to previous plan and perhaps what was in the MAAD application, this is still very much at the low end in comparison to our peers of capital investment per customer.

I know that's not necessarily your question, but I think I wanted to add context when we talk about Mr. Koski is indicating how EPCOR has -- EEDO has been able to deliver on the capital program and the efficiency in delivering on that capital program, which does have a, in some cases, dependent upon what the capital asset is.

In some cases capital asset involved like SCADA, there may be some additional operating costs associated with it.  In some cases, capital -- if it is a pull line rebuild, that should reduce the amount of overtime related to lines coming down or poles requiring any emergency maintenance.

So it's -- there is -- it is a combination of many factors, but to come back to answer your question, there are some operating costs within the administration in general, but there are some -- that would be reflected back in the operations and maintenance accounting.  But there are also downward pressure being put on the O&M by virtue of EEDO being able to deliver on its capital program.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now as I understand as part of the MAADs application, EPCOR committed to maintaining or even improving reliability; do I have that right?

MR. McCRANK:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can go to page 2019.

MR. HESSELINK:  Excuse me, can I please repeat the page?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, no problem.  Page 29.  Sorry.  You may see this under the first sentence under 10.2, you say:
"EPCOR expects to maintain or improve existing Collus service levels and quality standards for Collus LDC's customers."

Do you see that?


MR. McCRANK:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's go to page 36 of the compendium -- sorry.  Not the right page.  Can we go to page 43.

This is data, as I understand, from the 2019 DSP.

MR. MORAN:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, I am just wondering, if you are moving on to a new point whether this is a good time to take our second break.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  That's fine.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Thanks.  We will adjourn until 11:45.
--- Recess taken at 11:36 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:47 a.m.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we could go to page 47 of the compendium.

This is from the 2019 to 2023 DSP, and it shows the reliability from the previous five years.  That's what the table shows.  Do I have that correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what I see from the 2014 to 2018, the average, and if we look at the SAIFI, no loss of supply, no major event data, and SAIDI, no loss of supply and no major event days.  We see a SAIFI of 0.68 and a SAIFI of 1.24.  Do you see that?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can go to page 43.

MR. McCRANK:  Mr. Rubenstein, if I may, just before you leave that table, I think it is important to add a little bit of context, is that you will see a significant change in the SAIDI between 2014 and 2015.  That would be indicative of the AMI being integrated into our smart-map utility, which is our outage management system, and so it gives us at that point -- and all utilities have experienced this when they've implemented an OMS with integrated AMI -- a little bit of a step change, as it gives you a more accurate picture of what your reliability statistics are in things like SAIDI, accurate times as to when an outage occurred and when an outage has been restored.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  If we can go to page 43.  We can scroll down.  And this is the same table that shows -- the same type of table that shows the 2017 to 2021, correct?

MR. McCRANK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So a more accurate five-year average, correct?

MR. McCRANK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I don't mean more accurate.  The more recent five-year average, correct?

MR. McCRANK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so what I see is a SAIFI and SAIDI again when we look at the no loss of supply or MEBs, we see a SAIFI of 0.83 and a SAIDI of 0.155, correct?

MR. McCRANK:  Can you say the SAIDI part again, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I see a SAIFI of 0.83 and a -- sorry, a SAIFI of 0.83 and a SAIDI of 1.55.

MR. McCRANK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So as compared to the previous five years before the -- the five-year average before the purchase compared to the most recent actuals we have,  reliability got worse, correct?

MR. McCRANK:  From a statistical standpoint, I would agree that the reliability has in some years been up, some years been down.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But on average, the more recent five years, it's gone down, reliability has gone down.

MR. McCRANK:  Again, if you -- certainly if you include the 2014 year, it would show that it's gone down.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in the MAADs application when you talked about maintaining and potentially improving service levels like reliability, ultimately that at least from now hasn't actually occurred, correct?

MR. McCRANK:  Correct.  And if can I add some context to that, though, you know, I think in the MAAD application the team that was looking at the asset and predicting what the reliability would be, looking at asset condition, and I think there is a difference between an urban utility and a non-urban utility.

And it would have been very difficult at the time of the MAAD application for the team to have predicted or seen the outages that we've incurred in Collingwood and the utilities Thornbury, Stayner, and Creemore, they've primarily been related to two things, loss of supply coming from our Hydro One feeds and tree contacts.

And so I think -- I think it can go without saying that we have seen an increase in weather-related events over the course of the past few years, and we have incurred some level of reliability impacts in association with weather events and/or -- we are blessed with a lot of trees here in Ontario -- some significant tree failures leading to outages.

The second thing I want to say about SAIDI in particular is -- and perhaps SAIFI as well, is that it has been my experience that this is not necessarily a reflection of in-year operation.

To me this is more a reflection of the longer-term system design and engineering of a particular grid.

And so with that in mind, just take an utility to say that, you know, we're not happy with the reliability as it is and we're taking action and have started to take action to improve this and recognize what the main causes are.

So we've recently installed some fault-line indicators to try to give us some visibility on the grid.

We have plans to put in and we have installed our first remotely operable SCADA switch, and in -- if you notice in the DSP going forward, one of our main strategies here is to try to make the grid smarter.


I will give some kudos to Hydro One just to highlight this and paint the picture.  Recently we had an outage in Thornbury, where a friend of mine texted me -- he's a dentist, and he had a client -- a patient in open surgery, open-mouth surgery.

He asked, the power's gone out, and today we don't have a lot of visibility in Thornbury.  We don't know where the outage is.  We'll have to send a crew out, patrol the line, find the cause, and look to restore it, and so I was a little nervous for my colleague, who was trying to do some surgery.

Hydro One has recently installed some SCADA-operable switches.  They've made their side of the grid smarter, and they were able to switch the feed remotely.  Instead of having to send a crew all the way from Owen Sound to do the same thing and patrol the lines to try to figure out where a potential tree may have come across a line, they've -- they've -- they were able to remotely switch the service, and we were able to get that power restored within 20 minutes instead of two hours that it might take to patrol a line.

So I just wanted to add that context that, you know, yes, reliability is a concern for us.  As a resident in Collingwood, I've -- I have incurred these outages myself.  We are taking steps to ensure that going forward we've made this grid smarter.  We're going to harden it.

You see in the distribution system plan the increased capital spend that we've talked about earlier.  We're going to make sure that we continue to invest into the pole lines.  We want to try to ensure that we are building a system that's resilient, more resilient, to the weather patterns that we're seeing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So -- but as compared to the MAAD application, I think as we've talked about before, costs are higher than you said that you would have at the MAAD application, and the reliability is worse than you said as compared to the MAAD application, correct?

MR. McCRANK:  In regards to reliability, correct, yes, and again, just to reiterate, with the types of outages that we've seen, would have been very difficult for all parties involved to have predicted that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me go on to a different subject now.  I'd like to talk about long-term debt, and maybe the best place to take you is to take you to page 100, or page 99 of the compendium.

Just so we can -- this, as I understand, is Appendix 2OB, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this is what you use to calculate the long-term debt rate for the application, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, this is the required form.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So maybe we can go down to page 101, which has the 2023 set of debts that calculates.

And so as I understand from that, you are proposing a debt rate -- long-term debt rate of 3.98 percent.  Do I have that right?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I have a couple of questions about this table.

You'll see at row -- or rows 6 and 7 you see commercial loan, TD commercial bank, start date December 2015, ten-year terms, but there is no principal amount there.

What am I to -- what is -- what are those two loans?

MR. KOSKI:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, you are looking at the 2023 year?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, if you take a look at rows 6 and 7 you see commercial loan, TD commercial bank, start date of December 2015.

MR. KOSKI:  Oh, okay.  So, yes, those loans were entered into prior to EUI obtaining the utility from former shareholders.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, but I don't see any principal amount or any interest on those loans.

MR. KOSKI:  So they -- so as of -- you're looking at the '23 year.  Those loans no longer exist.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the last time if we go up to 2017, that's the last time I see these TD commercial loans with a principal and an interest.  Do you see that?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then what happened to those loans?

MR. KOSKI:  They were paid out and replaced.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that, if you look at 2018 they were replaced with the EPCOR promissory note?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, I believe that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So before the purchase there were two TD commercial loans, or three TD commercial loans, if I look at 2017-- with an interest rate of 3.65, 3.65, and 3.59 per cent; correct.

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then you replaced that with a promissory note for -- and those began, I believe, on 2015 and 2017 and they had ten-year terms, correct?


MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you replaced it with a promissory note from the affiliate with an interest rate of 4.3 per cent?


MR. KOSKI:  Correct.  One key difference that I'll note there Mr. Rubenstein is the notes were replaced with a 30-year note, which is -- from generally speaking, when EPCOR is borrowing to fund infrastructure assets, we like to have loans that match the long-term nature of the underlying assets.  So yes, we did convert those into longer-term notes, provide more stability, less refinancing risk for customers, et cetera.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you paid out -- so you prepaid, I guess, a loan which had interest rates at 3.65 and 3.59 for the purpose -- and then took out a loan of 4.3 per cent.  And the difference, customers are paying the difference in the interest rate, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Customers are paying the difference, correct, and they also have consistency with respect to their utility rates for 30 years as a result, as opposed to taking on refinancing risk in the next handful of years when these loans would have been expiring.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in your view, that extra 30 years is worth the difference?


MR. KOSKI:  From EPCOR's perspective, yes.  We believe that funding utility infrastructure with a debt of a term that's more commensurate with the long-term nature of the assets, yes, we believe that is appropriate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When you say EPCOR you are talking about EPCOR utilities?  Or is that EEDO's view?

MR. KOSKI:  Sorry, this would be EEDO's position, but it would correspond with EUI's position.  And it would correspond with our other regulated utility operations.

As a whole, from our company's perspective, which would include EEDO, and EEDO's management would agree, funding infrastructure, long-term infrastructure assets with a -- with appropriately matched, long-term-dated debt financing is the most appropriate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Who actually made this decision?  Was this really a decision of EPCOR or EEDO?


MR. KROOT:  It would have been in combination with both.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in your view is the best interest of ratepayers to replace debt of 3.59 and 3.65 with 4.3?  That's the bottom line?


MR. KOSKI:  in order to obtain cost certainty for an additional 30 years, especially in a low-interest environment such as we were seeing in 2018, yes, that would have been our position.  And that would have been the utility's position.  And all of our subsequent debt issuances have all been 30-year-term debt.

As we believe, as I have stated, we believe that is the most appropriate matching of long-term financing with the utility assets being constructed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In your view, matching is the -- that is the overarching principle?  It is not -- you don't want to the have, for example, a different portfolio that has different lengths to take into different term risks.

MR. KOSKI:  I would say as a general principle, unless there was some very material asset that was being constructed that had other than an average life, which is commensurate with the majority of our assets, yes, that would be our base position.


The average life of our assets tends to be quite long-term, north of 40 years, and from a consistency of ratepayers' rates perspective, we do believe it is more appropriate to fund those with long-term financing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Was there a prepayment penalty or some escalation of interest rates?  Because as I understand it, these commercial loans were taken out in 2015 and 2017.  So a ten-year length -- with a term of ten years, right?  So it is not that these debts expired and you had to prepay them and you then rolled the debt over with a 30-year -- you are essentially repaying the debt, correct?


MR. KOSKI:  So, correct, that's -- I have to admit off my fingertips I don't have if there was an early prepayment penalty for these.  But that's something that I can check.


But what I can say is, to the extent there was an early prepayment penalty, that would have been on account of the shareholder, as we've not asked for any increase rates or anything on that, in that regard.


But I don't know for sure that there was.  I would have confirm that, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'd ask you to confirm and the question I am asking is not if customers had to pay; you were under an incentive rate term.  But is that amount showing up somewhere in the application?  Is it on an O&M expense that you've recorded it in some of the tables?  That is what I'm interested to understand.

MR. KOSKI:  Sure, I can take that one away and confirm that.

I'm relatively confident that it is not showing up in any of the utility-related expenses, but we'll confirm that, that that's not a problem.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Let's mark that as an undertaking.  That will be J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO DETERMINE IF THERE WERE PREPAYMENT OR OTHER SORT OF PENALTY FEES ASSOCIATED WITH THE EARLY PREPAYMENT OF THE TD COMMERCIAL BANK LOANS, AND TO DETERMINE IF THOSE COSTS, FULL OR IN PART, ARE LOCATED IN SOME ASPECT OF TABLES IN THE APPLICATION OR THE REGULATORY ACCOUNTS OF THE UTILITY.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Either Mr. Rubenstein or Mr. Koski, could you just for the benefit of the court reporter, could you lay out the undertaking briefly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  As I understand, the undertaking is to determine if there were prepayment or other sort of penalty fees associated with the early prepayment of the TD commercial bank loans, and to determine if those costs, full or in part, are located in some aspect of tables in the application or the regulatory accounts of the utility.

MR. KOSKI:  I concur with that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks very much.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we go back to page 101.  As I understand, there are now five affiliate loans or promissory notes with the utility that make up the 2023 test year interest rate, long-term debt forecast; do I have that right?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, if we go to page 103 of the compendium.  This is a table, as I understand, that OEB's Staff prepared, and I believe you agree that it is accurate.

It is showing the various promissory notes, the principals, the rate that you are seeking for in this application and what the OEB's deemed long term debt rate would have been at the time of issuance; do I have that right?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, you have that correct.  


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And as I understand, with the exception of the December 2021 note, the deemed rates are all lower than the rates that you are using for the purposes of the application, correct?


MR. KOSKI:  That's correct, Mr. Rubenstein, and I will let the Panel know that the application in Exhibit 5, as well as the accompanying IRs from Board Staff, do provide a very detailed listing of our thought process on why we feel that this is appropriate and how we feel that the long term debt that was entered into by EEDO is, in fact, based on market-based calculations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We're going to talk about that so don't worry, you'll have to time to discuss it, but I take it that you don't disagree with the proposition that you're not following the Board's cost of capital policy?


As I understand you think it is not appropriate in the circumstances, or whatever, but you agree that on the face of it you are not following it?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct, correct.  We've included the actual costs of the debt based on the timing that the debt was incurred, and based on a market approach to it.

But -- and in some circumstances that has yielded a rate that is a little bit more than the deemed rates and in some cases a little bit less.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to clarify.  Four times it has yielded a rate that's higher than the deemed rate, and only once it yielded a rate that is lower, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Well, so, I was speaking specifically to actual debt.  Forecasted debt is a completely different issue altogether.  But in terms of our actual debt incurred, so the '18 and '20 and '21 issuances, two would be above and one would be below.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What about December 31st, 2022?  That has happened.

MR. KOSKI:  Right, so the application as it was put forward and the description in Exhibit 5 highlighted what EPCOR's forecast methodology was for those debts, and we continue to believe that that forecast was based on market principles and is a market reasonable forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there a promissory note at the end of the year, 2022?

MR. DODDS:  Yes, there was a promissory note, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And either the one in the application or the actual rate, is it higher than the deemed rate?

MR. KOSKI:  The actual rate of the debt that was issued in '22 was a little bit below the deemed rate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is below the deemed rate?

MR. KOSKI:  It is, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what's that amount?

MR. KOSKI:  I'd have to go and check.  I believe it's -- yeah, I'll have to take that away.  I can get back to you on that one.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, please.  Can we have that as an undertaking?

MR. KOSKI:  Yeah, absolutely.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE THE RATE FOR THE PROMISSORY NOTE IN 2022.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And as I understand your view of --

MR. KOSKI:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, just to clarify, though, we are talking now about forecasts, and these forecasts were made at the time that the application was put in, and EEDO continues to believe that the forecast was a reasonable forecast at that time.  So just want to make sure that that's clear.  Like, we are not asking to go back and change other items that may or may not have different assumptions based on reality that's happened since our application was filed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So just to clarify, what you're saying is even though the rate that you ended up entering into in -- for the note at the end of December 2022 is below 4.88, you still want to use 5.25?

MR. KOSKI:  That is the number that we included in our application and was based on a reasonable calculation at the time we put the application in.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And now we know --

MR. KOSKI:  Unlike any other cost within an application that may be above or below when actuals come in, this is one of them, and the customers will get the benefit on rebasing, so we're not -- I don't think that we are proposing to amend our application for this.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, I just wanted to clarify.

MR. KOSKI:  Yep.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just so I generally understand the reason for why you don't think the Board's cost-of-capital policy applies to you, or shouldn't apply, or you want to make an exception or however you want to frame IT, is that you believe using the OEB's deemed rate which looks at September data is not appropriate.

You should have a mechanism that is sort of, I guess, more real-time, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  So that -- I'll maybe describe it a little bit different.

So the OEB's methodology to come up with long-term debt rates which are used as part of their cost-of-capital parameters for ROE purposes, understand the need to come up with some kind of calculation so that the cost-of-capital parameter can be known for all of the utility providers.

In terms of placing a point-in-time calculation, placing a ceiling on an actual cost, that's the part that EPCOR and EEDO does not -- or EUI or EEDO does not agree with.

So the point-in-time calculation that's done by the OEB as part of the cost-of-capital parameters calculation takes into consideration historical data -- for the purposes of this calculation, September of each year -- to come up with credit spread information, and that credit spread information is then pre-supposed to be in effect for any debt issuance after that point until the next cost-of-parameters come up the following year.

Credit spreads are a market phenomenon, and they will change constantly, so using a point-in-time estimate from our perspective does not make sense, and looking at actual market data as of the day a debt is actually entered into is a much -- well, is just more correct.

Likewise, when it comes to the underlying rates, so the OEB calculations uses the consensus forecast and some interpolation to come up with long-term rates.

And again, you know, when it comes to a forecast, there is no 100 per cent correct forecast.

I think everyone can agree that economists and everyone will do their best, so using consensus forecast when it comes to setting cost of capital for the ROE purposes, that's fair.  You have to pick a methodology.

When it comes to entering into actual debt, a much, much better indication would be the actual underlying debt rates on the date that the debt is actually issued.

And so our contention, and our continued position, is that for actual debt issued, based on our approach being, you know, very sound, including market -- market data, using Bloomberg, really, a lot of the same inputs that go into the OEB's deemed calculation should be followed when the debt's actually issued.

And the fact that it is an inter-affiliate debt shouldn't pose the ceiling on it.

I think we can understand that you need some parameters around inter-affiliate debt being reasonable, just to make sure that the companies don't do something that is unbecoming, and I can understand that.  Our methodology essentially puts us on the exact same footing or very similar footing to if this utility actually went to the market and raised the debt in the debt market, and so we believe that's a fair approach, and as a matter of fact, for a company of this size, the company is getting quite a benefit, because the fact of the matter is a company of this size could not issue debt in the market, and the OEB calculations presuppose that the utility could actually go into the market and raise debt as it's calculated.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just so I understand, there is nothing specific to EPCOR.  I mean, any utility could say that, correct?  I mean, any utility could say that this is a better approach?  There is nothing specific to this utility for why that the OEB's cost-of-capital parameters should not be followed?

MR. KOSKI:  I can't speak to other utilities and to the extent that they use inter-affiliate debt.  Like, that wouldn't be reasonable for me to comment on.

To the extent that a utility, though, was -- was issuing inter-company debt and they were using a comparable market-based approach, I would agree that that methodology is better than a methodology that caps the rates arbitrarily at a historical point using historical data and historical forecasts, which would only ever come to bear when the utility actually issues the debt by happenstance because the market for both of the components constantly fluctuates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Did EEDO either for its December 2022 debt or any of these issuances that we are talking about on this page here ever consider non-affiliate debt?

MR. KOSKI:  No, EEDO did not consider non-affiliate debt.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we don't know if any of these debt issuances or non-affiliate debt could be -- there could have been a more cost-effective debt option?


MR. KOSKI:  So I --

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We don't know that, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  With virtual certainty, no, we don't know.

But Mr. Rubenstein, what I can tell you, in my expertise -- or my role as the treasurer for EUI, an organization such as EEDO could not and would not be able to compete with market-based rates.

And I can even give you an example.  I kind of worked up an example.

So you referred to the previous -- the previous TD commercial debts, so the most recent one that was entered into was in March of 2017, I think, just pulling it up there on the table, 20 -- yeah, March of -- you can use the -- any of the tables there.

So on the screen, Mr. Hesselink pulled up the appendix with the relevant information.

So the March 2017 debt was entered into by EEDO at 3.59 per cent.

So if we go back and look at actual underlying market data for that comparable period, a ten-year debt in in March for an A-rated entity would have attracted approximately a 2.87 per cent borrowing rate, so combined credit spread and underlying Bank of Canada yield.

So just based on very -- well, not very simple.  I shouldn't undersell myself.

Based on looking at the historical data, it is very clear that the utility on its own with its own wherewithal could not access debt, first of all, comparable to the methodology that's used by the OEB.

If OEB assumes that A-rated entity has access to the market and can get market rates based on those credit spreads, this utility could not achieve those credit spreads. 

So I'm very confident, you know, based on my experience, that on its own this entity could not approach the borrowing rate that it gets from the parent company.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But EEDO never undertook that analysis.

MR. KOSKI:  No.  In consultation with the treasury department, it very quickly and easily determined that they could not match the rates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct when EEDO gets debt from EUI, right, when it gets a promissory note, it's not a flow-through debt, correct?  So by that I mean EUI is not going out at the market at the same time and flowing through the rates?


MR. KOSKI:  No, no, it's not flow-through.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So your approach does not really, just so I understand, the rate that EEDO is being charged does not reflect EUI's long-term debt or its embedded long-term debt rate, or anything like that, correct?


No.  EUI as a public issuer has a maintained credit rating, very relevant access to market data for EUI's credit spreads, and so no, EEDO could not achieve EUI's borrowing rates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so if EUI goes out in the market and gets debt for its entire family of companies, and then at some other point there is a promissory note -- sorry.  If EPCOR goes out to the market for its family of companies and then at some other period of time EEDO goes out with it, because the market conditions, there is a higher interest rate that EEDO pays, that difference, that's a difference that goes to the benefit of EPCOR, of EUI, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  So, if that circumstance played out, yeah, it would be a benefit.  If the borrowing rate was -- went the other direction, it would be a net cost to EPCOR.


And, again, we're talking about market rates and so both ways can happen and both ways do happen, in practice.

EEDO will only issue debt to the extent that it needs debt to maintain its deemed capital structure, so in any given year the utility may have a debt placement required, or may not.  And that's -- the need for debt at the utility company level is the only consideration in terms of when EEDO will actually issue long term debt.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about the two DVA accounts that you are seeking, and maybe the first one I want to talk about is the non-utility-billing variance account.  If we go to page 109 we talk about these accounts.

I'm going to summarize at least what I understand the purpose of the non-utility variance account is, and you can tell me if I have it accurately.

As I understand, the account is to capture the difference in fixed costs that EEDO will still have to pay, that would be -- that are currently recovered from the town if EEDO ceases to provide non-electricity billing services to the town.  Is that correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, that is correct.  Largely system-based costs that are calculated based on the number of customer accounts, and as one water account is also the same electricity account, two services on one bill, our cost determination won't change so, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 110 of the compendium, and I take you to line 5, it says:
"In EEDO's calculation of the 2023 test year OM&A approximately $200,000 of fixed billing and collecting costs were excluded from the distribution revenue requirements for billing services provided by outside vendors for activities such as meter reading, bill preparation and bill fulfillment."

Is that what we're taking about?


MR. HESSELINK:  That is correct, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to understand as it relates to the books of the utility or relates -- sorry, the regulatory books for this application, how this is all -- where this all plays out.

MR. HESSELINK:  Mm-hmm.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is all of the cost for utility and non-utility billing services in OM&A and then there is, in the other revenue component there is the revenue you get?  I just want to understand where this is all showing up in the application.  It's a bit confusing to me.

MR. HESSELINK:  Sure.  It's not quite that.

We get paid a per-bill service charge, and that's include in the other revenue.  And if it's okay with you, I'm just going to open up the chapter 2 appendices just to show you.

The simple example is it's in the other expenses on -- sorry, bear with me one second here.  I had the tab open the whole time.  Sorry. 

On the other operating revenue -- and I'll just share my screen.  It is a portion of these two costs here.  So the expenses are offset by the revenues here and these are the line items, revenues and expenses from non-rate-related utility operations.  And then that's broken down a little bit further in the detail.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Hesselink, could you just for the record, tell us which exhibit we're actually looking at?


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, apologies for that, Mr. Chair.  We're looking at the EEDO 2023 Chapter 2 appendices, the 2022 December 09 version, Appendix 2H.

And so getting back then, to the table, we have the detail broken down here, where we have the costs and the revenues included in there.  So we're talking about the recovery of a portion of this 600,000 expense that is not included in OM&A.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if the town ceases billing services -- I just want to make sure I understand what's going on here -- that $600,000 would stay the same, but that 750 and above would be lower?

MR. HESSELINK:  The 750 and above would disappear if we lost the agreement.  So that's the projected annual revenue.

The $600,000, some of it would disappear in some circumstances.  For example, meter reads for the water services that we incur right now.  Some of those costs would disappear.  But the fixed costs that we're referring to in the deferral account are the CIS costs, and as well are -- our meter reading services through Census (ph).  We have an agreement that we share with the town.  So there is a fixed and variable piece of that.

The final component of it is the labour that's allocated to this work, as well.  We handle the billing as well as the customer service, so there is a certain portion of the staff involved that's allocated to this.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can go back to page -- I guess 109, 110 of the compendium.

MR. HESSELINK:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I take it then that the difference between those two line items that we just looked at, if there is no -- if the town undertakes its own water billing or uses a different provider than EPCOR, really the difference now will be there's a $200,000 swing.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yeah, in reality --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- what would you want to capture in the account?


MR. HESSELINK:  Excuse me, sorry to speak over you, Mr. Rubenstein.

The 200,000 are the costs that would otherwise be incurred.  There are still certain costs, you know, for example, that we have four customer service reps.

It would potentially about be because of the reduced calls we would only need 3.6, but we would still, because we are a small utility, we would still need to maintain that critical mass in order to provide the services to customers.


But we're not -- we're not seeking the recovery of that in the deferral account, so we're assuming that risk. 

But there are those components.  The CIS system is the best example where those costs would -- we would still fully incur those one way or the other.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand from a brief look at the letters that were filed earlier this morning, you got a letter at the end of 2003 essentially saying what do you think this is going to -- essentially asking to you provide sort of a costing to try to maintain the business.

MR. HESSELINK:  That's right, we were --

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We were going to do an analysis and they had want to look at your costs so they can compare their own potential costs.

MR. HESSELINK:  That's correct, yes.  That was November of 2022.  Yes, so the town has given us an opportunity to effectively re-bid on the service to determine whether or not they would take that in-house.

And in that note -- and letter as well, they do issue the 12-month exit clause in the agreement, and of course our objective is to come up with an alternative arrangement in the meantime before that takes place.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, and just so I understand, you talk about fixed billing and collecting costs, and you use examples, meter reading, bill preparation, and bill fulfilment, correct?  Those are the fixed components we are talking about?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And I just want to understand.  When you are talking about meter reading, what exactly are you talking about here?

MR. HESSELINK:  Sure.  It is the AMI -- I'm not a meter-reading expert, but it's the -- so Ted, you may need to assist -- but it is essentially the cost from Census to read the meters and then send it to the MDMR and our ODS.  So we pay for the stations located in Collingwood and Thornbury.  We pay a fixed fee, and then we pay a per-read fee, so we are looking to recover that fixed fee that is currently allocated between us -- between EDO and between the Town of Collingwood.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the town is getting allocated a portion because it is also doing water-billing reads?

MR. HESSELINK:  So that's -- we're doing the billing, so it is just allocated in the other expenses on the table below.

So the town -- what the town is paying a per bill service charge, and it is up to us to maintain -- it is up to us to have those revenues match the expenses that are incurred.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry --


MR. HESSELINK:  Or maybe that wasn't clear.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'll take it as my -- that I don't understand.

MR. HESSELINK:  No, I'm happy to --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to be clear.

They're being allocated in the costs you are allocating because certain of these costs are -- they apply equally to bill -- there are systems or processes that both deal with electricity billing and water billing.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yeah, the CIS produces one bill and the customer-service team looks at that same system, so I believe it is a 60/40 split allocated to electricity, and then 40 percent is allocated to water.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's because 40 percent of -- I know it doesn't work exactly like this, but sort of 40 percent of the CIS system is working towards -- or 40 S (sic) of the meter reading is for water billing?

MR. HESSELINK:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so CIS is a water-billing functionality.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And now -- and if they enter the -- if the town stops -- you stop providing water-billing services to the town, now electricity ratepayers are paying for the water-billing functionality, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Electricity ratepayers, yes, mathematically.

Now, the idea of the agreement is -- it's a mutually beneficial agreement, so the simple example is one bill, one envelope, one stamp.

So they get -- the electricity ratepayers have gotten the benefit of this account -- or not of this account, but of this line of business for a long period of time, and it is helping share those costs accordingly.

So it is not an affiliate shared service, but it is more or less treated the same way as the shared service.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But as I understand, if the town -- if you cease to provide billing services to the town, electricity ratepayers will be paying for, at least to some extent, water -- the costs of water-billing infrastructure that you -- that either you -- you have a contract with a third party or you have in-house, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  They -- I guess you could say they would have been paying it all along if we hadn't have had this agreement.

The cost for the CIS system is based on the number of accounts.  That's how our costs are allocated.  The number of accounts won't change, because it's not based on the type of service, so whether you are an electricity-only account or you are an electricity, water, and wastewater account, it is still treated as one.

So those costs won't change, with the exception of approximately 100 of our 18,000 accounts, as a result of this line of business.  So the CIS cost would remain the same.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, that -- when you are talking about costs you are talking -- because I believe you are the third-party provider who provides these services, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you would agree with me that for that third party, when it is pricing on a per-account basis, it is taking into account that it's also -- it's providing two different services, electricity billing as well as CIS -- sorry, water billing, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  I don't actually believe that to be true.

Some LDCs don't bill water and still would be paying the same rate, the same allocation that we would pay.  So whether or not they'd have multiple services.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you are trying to tell me that the water billing is essentially a free add-on?  I --


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That seems -- really?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, it's -- well, that's my understanding that that's the case, because it is on an account basis, and the service type is a function of the account. It is a dimension of the account.  And so we're billed based on the number of accounts.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then the town is going to pretty quickly learn that this is not a good deal, and should maintain essentially getting -- maintain the service with you?

MR. HESSELINK:  That's what we're hoping the town does see.

You know, we've had conversations with the town as well, and they do understand the impacts on -- I know their lens is more of the taxpayer as opposed to the ratepayer, but it is largely the same community, but subject to any sort of mitigation, if the town were to take away this service, our costs for the CIS would remain, and the town would also then have to incur their own costs in order to complete the service.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I don't see anywhere else in the account for any of the proposed accounts you are seeking that would essentially have an account if let's say the opposite happens, where there is some area in your application, either costs or revenue, where you are either getting more revenue than you expected because of some -- for example, you are providing more affiliate services to another entity or, you know, costs are decreasing, where essentially ratepayers are getting protected on -- do I have that incorrect?

MR. HESSELINK:  I wouldn't agree with that statement.  I think actually ratepayers have got the benefit of that arrangement over the years, and the costs allocated to the water and wastewater services are largely --and, you know, there is fixed, as in the CIS costs, but there is also the revenue costs -- or, sorry, the staffing costs associated with it, but they've been gaining the benefit of that all to the risk of EPCOR and formerly Collus.

The difference here is, you know, we are no longer owned by the municipality.  So it's -- when the municipality is looking at it holistically, they don't have to take into account that consideration specifically.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  My question was a little bit more precise.

MR. HESSELINK:  Please.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is a DVA you are seeking which essentially protects the utility if the town ceases to have its water billing done through you.

Is there another account, because I didn't see it, that essentially provides if the opposite occurs some other place in the application, where there is increased revenue or a decrease in costs that protects -- or customers benefit in the test year or through the IRM term?

MR. HESSELINK:  Wouldn't that be -- like, if, say, our revenue was above or below the materiality threshold, would -- isn't there an opportunity for an off-ramp or something in the term of the IR?  So I think that mechanism already does exist for elements of the revenue requirement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But that would also apply to your cost, 300 -- if they are talking about the 300 basis points, that's symmetrical, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  So, Mr. Rubenstein, I think you are asking if we have a more general-purpose DVA for variances above or below.

We do not.  That -- this is a specifically known item that would have a material impact.  

Our understanding of the way that the five-year process works here is, if there are some costs that become higher or lower or some revenues that were higher or lower, like, that's a risk that the utility takes over the five-year period, so, no, we are not looking for any kind of general-purpose DVA to capture those types of variances over the five-year term.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

I know it's 12:30, and I know that -- I think that was the sort of expected lunch time.

MR. MORAN:  So how are you doing on making progress --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I do have some more questioning.

I've been gifted some time from some of my colleagues.  I know I'm already -- I hit the end, but I'm okay picking that quickly up after the lunch.

I'm in your hands.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Well, then maybe we'll break for an hour then and we'll come back at 1:30.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:37 p.m.
--- Upon resuming at 1:35 p.m.


MR. MORAN:  Good afternoon, everybody.  I think we are ready to proceed, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I am.

MR. MORAN:  Do you have an estimate of how much more you have?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Hopefully no more than 15 minutes.

MR. MORAN:  Perfect, okay.  Over to you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Panel, I would like to talk about the second new deferral account you're seeking.  That is the recovery of income tax deferral account, and we have the prefiled evidence relating to this begins on page 110 of my compendium.

Again, I'm going to tell you what I understand what the account's purpose is and you can tell me if I'm right or wrong.

As I understand, your 2023 revenue requires includes an income tax amount of zero because of significant loss carry-forwards that you can deduct against your taxable income for 2023.  And so the purpose of the account would capture any income tax payable in the IRM year since there is going to be no amounts billed into your base rate.

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, that is correct.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe you know this or maybe you don't know this.  You are not the only utility that has no income tax payable in the test year because of similar application of loss carry-forwards?


MR. KOSKI:  I'm not sure either way on that, Mr. Rubenstein.  If you say that, that's fair enough.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you aware of any other utility that has been granted such an account?


MR. KOSKI:  I'm not aware of any, no.  However, my understanding generally is that -- the base idea around taxes when it comes to OEB legislation is that taxes is supposed to be neither a harm or -- full (inaudible) is not the right word, but the utility is meant to be able to recover that cost.


And so I think what we're -- regardless, I guess, of whether any other utility has applied for this type of account, it seems reasonable to us at EEDO that because of the loss carry-forward balances that we have, if we do incur tax expense in one of the years, it does seem to fit our understanding of how taxes are to be treated in the OEB regime.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I understand taxes as a general matter, like any other expense, utility forecasts its test year expenses like any other line item on the revenue requirement including taxes, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yep, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then during the IRM period there is no true-up to the tax expense.

MR. KOSKI:  No, there isn't a true-up to the tax expense.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, could we go to page 114.  Could we go down to table 6.2.2.  Just to make sure we are on the same page, this is a response to part of Staff interrogatory 6.Stafff.58.  As I understand, going into 2023, you will have a tax loss carry-forward of approximately $2.89 million.

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, that's correct, based on application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can go farther down that page, you were asked -- you see this at the end of page 114 of the compendium.  You were asked to provide your forecast taxable income for regulatory purposes for each of 2023 through 2027; do you see that?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you've provided that information, and as I -- when I add up those numbers, I get a taxable income of 2.49 million between 2023 and 2027.

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that means you'll have enough loss carry-forwards to cover all those years, correct?


MR. KOSKI:  If -- if the income works out exactly as, as -- if we recover exactly our ROE over the period, correct.  That's what this calculation would be based on.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can back up for a moment, and understand, because this is a forecast of your taxable income, correct?


MR. KOSKI:  Based on information available at the time of the filing, correct, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so I want to understand why taxable income may be higher than that.

So you would agree with me one way that taxable income could be higher than your forecast is that revenues increase more than expenses in a given year?


MR. KOSKI:  I suppose that that's possible, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And or in another way, expenses are decrease more than revenues decrease?  That's another way.

That's another way, yeah, or -- sure, yep.  

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then so essentially, as you mentioned, if your ROE is higher than the decrease, then you will have more taxable income.

MR. KOSKI:  Yeah, another way of course that that could happen, Mr. Rubenstein, is if the ROE levels are to change throughout the IRM period, which is of course theoretically possible.  And of course it can go the other direction as well.

What we were trying to accomplish here -- so the forecast does show that under today's circumstances that there shouldn't be current tax.  We can't know for sure what's going to happen in the period.

One of the biggest ones obviously being the ROE amounts themselves, how those are going to play out over the five years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand --


MR. KOSKI:  At the time that these rates were set.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm trying to understand because as of right now, based on your forecast, there will never be a balance in that account.  You have more loss carry-forwards to cover.  So I'm just trying to understand what would change that.

MR. KOSKI:  Yeah.  Correct.  Based on current assumptions, you are correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you are talking about ROE changing but you are building in -- as the Board's regulatory framework, there is an ROE that is set in your test year.  So it's not changing.

MR. KOSKI:  Oh, the -- correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- amount is not changing, correct?


MR. KOSKI:  No, you're correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the way that you may actually have taxable income in excess of your loss carry-forwards is if the actual ROE of the utility is higher than the deemed rate, the deemed amount?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this account, in a case where you've essentially over-earned the taxable payable on that over-earned would be -- in so as far as you don't have the loss carry-forwards to cover it would go in the account, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, I think that would be the idea.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now imagine that you didn't have any loss carry-forwards, correct?


MR. KOSKI:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, so you had a taxable amount.  And you overearned.  Do you get to recover the tax on that addition -- the overearning from customers normally?

MR. KOSKI:  I have to admit I'm not a hundred per cent -- I would assume not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But in this situation you think you should be able  to do it.  Why?

MR. KOSKI:  I, I, from the utility's perspective it -- appeared to us that if we did have to pay cash taxes during the period -- and especially given the, you know, what's transpired to incur these losses, it did seem reasonable to us that we should be able to collect our cash taxes.  I think I probably can't say much more to that.  That was the thought process behind why we were applying for it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, you've heard my questions to you.  Do you still think it's appropriate?

MR. KOSKI:  I think we'd probably have to take that one away and consider it a bit more.  I think that there could be other circumstances that could lead to the utility having taxable income as well.  Your one circumstance where it's sorely or only based on overearning by the utility, yeah, your point is a fair one.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, and in other circumstances where the taxable amounts that a utility in the IRM period may differ from what's built into rates -- for let's say non ROE-related reasons that you are -- that may also occur, there is no true-up to that normally, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  I have to admit I'd have to look into that.  I'm not a hundred per cent sure, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, Mr. Hesselink, you are more familiar.  This is not a test for Mr. Koski.  You are more familiar with the Ontario regulatory.  There is no general tax true-up account, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.

MR. HESSELINK:  So.

MR. KOSKI:  So what -- is it just the change in legislation that's a general purpose ability?  If there is a change in legislation, then there is a deferral account for that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, there is a symmetrical for only change in legislation or tax policy, my understanding.


Now, if I told you an approach that I've seen other utilities take with respect to other loss carry-forwards,  since in my experience you're not the only utility, is essentially to take that loss carry-forward and amortize it over the five-year rate-setting period.  So you -- so you apply essentially 20 percent against the taxable income.  Would you think that's an appropriate alternative approach to your issue?

MR. KOSKI:  So I think we would -- I'd probably need to take that away as an undertaking and just give it some thought.

I wouldn't want to underthink this -- like I said, we're -- unfortunately, I wasn't familiar with other utilities using this type of mechanism, but I can definitely -- we can definitely undertake to give some thought around that if EEDO would find that to be an appropriate path forward.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I'll ask one more question, then I'll let you give your own undertaking, which is fine, is: If that's the case, am I correct you would still have no taxable income in 2023 for the test year?

MR. KOSKI:  If we took one -- so just to make sure I understand, if we took one-fifth of the loss carry-forward balance and applied, that as opposed to just using the loss to the full extent possible?  Umm... I have to -- I don't have the PILs work form.  That might --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, as I understand, you would have a loss carry-forward of about 2.89 million, so if you take one-fifth of that, it's still going to be higher than the 112,666 taxable income for 2023, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Subject to confirmation, yeah, that would be correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Now, you seem to want to give an undertaking to think about it, so I'll give you -- I'm okay with that.

MR. KOSKI:  Yeah, so Mr. Rubenstein, tax would be one of those more technical areas.  I don't think I can -- I can agree to anything without giving it a little bit more thought.  And I certainly couldn't agree on my own, but -- on my own on behalf of the utility, so...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, so...

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We'll make that Undertaking J1.4.

Could I just ask you to describe that undertaking, please, for the benefit of the court reporter?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think Mr. Koski has got to explain it --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think so.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- what his undertaking is.

MR. KOSKI:  Okay, fair enough.  I think of how to word this -- yeah, just give me a moment.

MR. KING:  Sorry, if I could interject, is this maybe not just a point to argue?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I leave it to you.  Your witness wanted to think about it more and provide an undertaking.

MR. KING:  Yeah, I think we will --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's the situation we're in.

MR. KING:  I think -- so I think we will not give an undertaking.  I think this is more appropriate for argument.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine by me.

MR. KING:  Okay, works for me.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me last ask you about the effective dates, just to make sure I have got this correct.

As I understand, you are seeking an effective date of rates of October 21st, 2023?

MR. HESSELINK:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it, you originally filed a January -- an application for January 1, 2023 effective date, and that was subsequently amended, I believe, at the IR response stage to October 1st, 2023 to reflect that you had realized your contractual commitment to the, I guess, the purchase -- the seller that -- the Town, as well as a condition in the MAADs application decision that you couldn't seek, I guess, a non-IRM rate increase for five years?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yeah, it was the same condition, just -- in the agreement with the town and as stated in the MAADs decision, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that five years, the deferred rebasing period?

MR. HESSELINK:  The five-year was the deferred rebasing period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And since the deal closed October 21st, 2018, the five years is -- takes you to October 1st, 2023.

MR. HESSELINK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, your proposal in addition to that is on January 1st, 2024 you will have an IR -- you will seek a 2024 IRM increase?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, as part of the original application -- we are currently a May filer, so we seek to align the rate change date with the fiscal year, so we are looking to implement that in 2024, and that's --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if I --


MR. HESSELINK:  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, you, please, finish your answer.

MR. HESSELINK:  I just was going to state, that's why we originally were at January.

We had reached out informally to OEB Staff back in --well, before we started working on the application, 2018, 2019, I forget the exact date, but in advance of starting the application to try to confirm the date based on the wording in the MAAD, so we proceeded with the application for a 2023 application based on that response.

And in addition -- so that would have taken us to a May 2023 rate effective date.

I also elected to align with the fiscal year of January 1 at that time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, you're not -- the issue with respect to the October, you are not putting that on OEB Staff, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  No, no, we acted based on that, but after speaking with our legal team, this was our mistake.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And so just so I understand then, we started off the questioning this morning, we were talking about rate increases of 20 percent up to 40 percent for the rate classes.

That's going to go into effect October 1st, 2023, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  '3, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then three months later on January 1st, 2021st (sic), there is going to be further rate increases with the IRM increase, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you would agree with me we can expect those 2024 IRM increases to be relatively significant compared to the history of rate increases because, as I understand the OEB IRM's calculation, 2024 IRM increase is really going to reflect 2022 inflation.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, and if that's based on the methodology that would be the case.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So --


MR. HESSELINK:  Let me be clear.  Sorry, let me just clarify what I was trying to say there.

Yes, without knowing the number I would expect that to be the case.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yeah, because I think we all agreed there was --


MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- higher than normal inflation in 2022.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So large rate increase, 20 to 40 percent, in October, then three months later another significant rate increase, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, but we have forgone the May 21st, 2023 rate increase, so customers had completely stable distribution rates from May 1st, 2022 to what would be October 1st, 2023, even seeing a benefit from May 1st, 2003 to October 2023, as a lot of the rate riders expire.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just so I'm understanding, though, but if you had elected to have a May 1st rate increase, that would be a lower than the 2024 IRM increase, and it would be on a lower base rates, because we don't have the 20 to 40 percent increases, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  On lower -- yes, on lower base rate, yes.

Since we don't know the 2024 rate for sure, I can't say that definitively.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And so as I understand then, you plan to rebase -- do I have this correct -- January -- for rates January 1st, 2028?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yeah, so we see that as a five-year term from 2023, so it is treating 2023 a little bit different because of this exceptional circumstance, treating it almost like a stub year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So really, though, it's not actually a five-year term.

It is a four-year-and-three-month term?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is that allowed under OEB policy?  Are you aware of that?  I haven't seen that, so...

MR. HESSELINK:  I'm not aware.  I'm not aware.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So we are going to have two rate increases in three months in 2023 and then a rate term of four years and three months, correct?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you very much, panel, for your assistance.  Those are all my questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein, and I guess we're looking at Environmental Defence next, Ms. Montgomery.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Montgomery:

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Good afternoon, Panel, and good afternoon, witness panel.  My name is Amanda Montgomery, and I am counsel for Environmental Defence.

Before I begin, could I ask the witness panel to just pull up ED IR 4.  You don't need to take a look at it. I just want you to have it in front of you.  All of our questions will relate to this IR.

MR. HESSELINK:  I will share it for everyone's benefit.  I am just opening it up.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  Thank you.

My questions are on another screen, so if I am not looking at you it's because I'm just taking a look at my questions.

So in IRR ED4, EEDO listed a number of proposed projects to enable the implementation of distributed energy resources, or DERs, by EEDO's customers.  So these projects as we understand are it are ARCO Pro GIS Upgrade and Utility network migration SCADA upgrades at Stayner MS, Thornbury MS, and Collingwood MS7, fault line indicators, and SCADA-controlled switches.

Can you confirm that these are the planned projects to support the implementation of DERs over the period of this DSP?  And are there any other planned projects that I may have missed that would support your implementation?


MR. McCRANK:  That's correct, Ms. Montgomery.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Now as I understand it, these capital investments have a number of benefits, including increasing reliability for customers, which I believe Mr. McCrank mentioned in an earlier response, as well as increasing safety for workers and improving the visibility of the system to enable greater DER and electrical vehicle penetration.

Is that a fair summary of some of the principal benefits of these projects?

MR. McCRANK:  That's a great summary.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  In the interrogatory response you say you need these investments so that you can conduct modelling to assess the impacts of DER penetration and to be able to:

"Optimally connect without either overbuilding the system or unnecessarily restricting the inter-connection."

Have I got that right?

MR. McCRANK:  That's correct.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  And I take it that you don't want to unnecessarily restrict inter-connection because that would be a problem for customers who want to use DERs to lower their energy bills; and that would also be a problem for all customers who stand to gain from the system-wide benefits of DERs; is that right?


MR. McCRANK:  I that that's a fair assessment.  I think we want to enable our customers to participate on the grid in the manner in which they wish to, whether it be a load customer or as a DER customer.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.  One of the possible benefits of locally situated DERs is that they help avoid or defer the need for distribution upgrades in certain situations; is that correct?

MR. McCRANK:  That's the theory, yes.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  And the other benefit mentioned in the IR, avoiding a system overbuild, that's obviously important because it helps to save money down the road; is that right?


MR. McCRANK:  That's correct.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  And so overall these investments are meant to benefit customers and reduce systems cost down the road; have I got that right?

MR. McCRANK:  The intent of those investments are to effectively set ourselves up and our customer base, up for grid modernization.  And that -- we do anticipate in the future that the grid will become more complex with the integration of distributed energy resources, be it solar panels, electric vehicles, batteries, different forms of distributed generation.

We are seeing lots of innovation on that front across the industry and we want to make sure that we're set up as a utility to participate in that, and that our customers can participate in that.


So these investments are being made for the purpose of continuing to evolve and modernize the grid that we operate.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.  I believe you've answered my next question which was, Are there any other ways that the projects will benefit customers and help reduce costs?  Have I missed anything else?

MR. McCRANK:  I think that when I look at the fault line indicators and the SCADA-controlled switches, those are, as I talked about earlier this morning, are being implemented to improve our ability to respond to outages in a non-urban-type environment where our resources are not 24-7.

This should result in lower operating costs.  Often when we have issues, it is after hours or weekends and we incur then operating costs.  So yes, these investments, something like that, again, is implemented to improve reliability, improve safety, and overall lower the operating costs associated with trying to operate the grid.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.  If there is a significant reduction in the approved capital envelope, how would that affect these investments in grid modernization and enable DERs?  For example, how likely is it that some or all of these investments might be cancelled or postponed to the next DSP?

MR. McCRANK:  Can I ask you to ask that question again, Ms. Montgomery?


MS. MONTGOMERY:  Certainly.  We are wondering, if there is a significant reduction into the approved capital budget envelope, how likely is it that some of these investments might be deferred to the next DSP or not undertaken at all?

MR. McCRANK:  So that is a risk.  We certainly have to work with the capital program that we are approved for.  We -- in some of these cases, I think there's -- they get ranked so I'll talk about the Stayner MS, Thornbury MS, and MS7.  Those particular projects are risk-ranked against our system renewal projects.


In the case of some of the MSs, they are fairly antiquated.  I would suggest that those ones from a risk-ranking standpoint may go ahead, and we may have to take a little bit more risk than when it comes to our system renewal and our pole line projects.


So I look at those three in particular as ones where I know we've got, as I mentioned this morning, limited visibility when it comes to the communities of Thornbury and Stayner, today.  Those are fuse-protected MSs, municipal stations, which means anything happens within those towns means we have to send a crew out to investigate and patrol.  There is no communication back to us that gives us any intelligence as to what's going on there.


And so that puts reliability at risk and safety at risk, in so much as having to have crews hit the road in all hours and get out and resolve reliability issues that may exist there.

So, those particular projects rank fairly high.  I think if we were under pressure, something like the fault line indicators and the SCADA-controlled switches, we may have to look at the timing associated with those, but I reiterate the importance of them and the opportunities that those provide for both us as a grid operator and the benefits to customers that, you know, I'm -- I believe we put forward a capital program here that's not, from a net PPE per customer when we compare to our peers, this is not far above where our peers are at.

In fact, it is still lower, it is still in the lower third when we look at our -- across all LDCs or if we look at the comparators to our similar size and topology and non-urban environments, we have -- we are on the lower third.

So I really believe that we need this capital spend.  We need this capital program that will benefit the customers in the long run to be able to better participate on the grid.  It will improve the reliability, safety, and as the grid gets more complex, this will help us to fight the -- and combat the costs associated with the grid evolution as well.

Oh okay, I thought one of my colleagues wanted to speak.  Sorry.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Is that your answer, then?  You're finished?  I'm not sure if you are still talking with your colleagues?

MR. McCRANK:  Yes, thank you, Ms. Montgomery.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay, great.  Thank you very much.  I have no further questions for this panel.  Thank you.

MR. McCRANK:  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Ms. Montgomery.  I see Ms. Seers here, you are here.  Could you enter an appearance?  I think you are up next.

MS. SEERS:  Hello, Commissioners, can you hear me?

MR. MORAN:  Yes.


MS. SEERS:  This is Merriam Seers on behalf of the Small Business Utility Alliance.  Good afternoon, Panel.  


MR. MORAN:  Good afternoon.


MS. SEERS:  I just have a few questions focused primarily on community relations as they relate to small businesses.

So firstly, EEDO is proposing as part of its OM&A an annualized 3.2 percent increase in community relations to 188,553 by 2023.

So the question is:  Considering that the customer satisfaction survey conducted by RedHead in 2021 indicates that only 75 percent of customers in the under 50-kilowatt category are satisfied with the services provided, versus 85 percent in the residential class.

Are there any strategies or programs that are specifically focused on customers in the under 50-kilowatt group that are derived from this proposed increase in OM&A? 

MR. HESSELINK:  I don't know if there is anything explicit in it.

We do have a lot of interactions with our small business or small commercial customer representatives, with our CSRs, customer service representatives, where we are providing, you know, access to programs.  The Conservation First framework in the CDM programs were a good example of that historically, and with some of the changes happening in the industry, that was always a good conversation piece, but I don't have anything specific there other than, whenever we're speaking with customers we are trying to provide options and programs that are available to them, whether it's, you know, through EPCOR itself or through something, you know, as a utility basis as a whole.

MS. SEERS:  Would you consider going forward including any specific programming that is directly targeted to that class, which is small business class, as opposed to residential, because they have different needs?

MR. HESSELINK:  They do have different needs and, yeah, I think we would consider that, and it is an interesting market because a lot of it is, you know, self-employed people, smaller business, that might not have the same resources that maybe some of the larger commercial customers would have, so we would always be looking for ways to reach out to those customers and to be able to connect to them.

MS. SEERS:  And I had a question about how much of the budget is spent specifically on programs that target those customers specifically, but I guess if there isn't a particular program I guess you wouldn't have that figure.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yeah, not specifically.  Most of our communication goes out to all customers and, you know, some of the messages apply to each group, such as reliability and safety, and even changes in the pricing programs, RPP, things like that.

We are working like all LDCs are towards the green-button initiative and getting that launched in time for November.

So there would certainly be an opportunity there to reach out to that group specifically.

I think that's maybe a tangible example that we would want to take advantage of to make sure that those customers are aware of that program and what's going to be involved with it as well.

Just being able to look at their historical data too, a lot of it does require the customer often to reach out to us first, but I think at -- it would be -- it would be helpful to be able to proactively capture that group as well, and I think green button is a good example of that.

MS. SEERS:  And would you hire any outside consultants to identify how to specifically target that group and what that group's specific needs are?

MR. HESSELINK:  We don't have plans to hire specific consultants for that, but that is a consideration that our customer-service team can look at, is how to engage with that group, but I don't believe there is anything specific in the application for that dedicated group.

MS. SEERS:  One of the things that is set out in the application is that EEDO has indicated that it will improve its web portal as part of its distribution system plan.

So could you describe in more detail any particular improvements that would be focused on the small business segment if there are any that are specific to that segment?

MR. HESSELINK:  Sure, so we are looking to upgrade our e-billing portal, so we use an older platform that is connected with our CIS system, and it does allow customers even now to access some historical usage and data.  Once the green-button implementation is completed we are looking to pick that project back up, so that will also give an opportunity to market.

Now, this is not specific to that customer group, but they would be a part of it, where they'll have a more user-friendly tool that will allow them to see their usage and gather historical data, have more of a self-service experience.

We also do get feedback from customers in regards to, you know, our forms on our website now, and we're able to make changes to improve that based on the feedback that we do receive.

MS. SEERS:  Okay.  Just one moment.  I think...

MR. McCRANK:  Ms. Seers, maybe -- I would like to just jump in quickly just to answer one of the questions.

It's not within our rate filings, necessarily, but as far as a program that EPCOR has sponsored and taken on that does support small businesses, we are acting as a delivery organization right now for Natural Resources Canada, ZEVIP program, Zero Emissions Vehicle Infrastructure program, and we are effectively organizing that or running that program on behalf of NRCan within the communities with which we operate, and it is an opportunity, and some small businesses have taken advantage of it.  It is effectively a grant-funding program, as you may be aware, for EV-charging stations, and so we are trying to, where we can, take a leadership role when it comes to initiatives like that or the electrification issues to support small businesses and give them the ability to make that transition or support their employees in making that transition at a more economic cost.

MS. SEERS:  Thank you, that's helpful.  Going to the answers to the interrogatories that SPUA posed, EEDO noted that customer satisfaction in the under 50-kilowatt category could be increased by providing reference to commercial programs that would be applicable to that group.

So can you explain how specifically EEDO would do that and if there are any proposed programs or any kind of implementation strategy to make that a reality?

MR. HESSELINK:  I think further to the -- let me take a pause there.  Let me just look at the question here.

When we did -- when the LDCs were directly involved with the conservation portfolio, it did give us that opportunity to have a direct link to customers, so we don't have that same direct link that we had in the past, so there isn't the same opportunity there, as well.

So I don't have mention of specific programs beyond the ones that we've mentioned so far, but there's always -- even if it comes to, you know, net metering, even tied to the DER conversation, those ideas and topics sometimes get brought to us, in which case we'd look to see how we could expand that to other similar customers as well.

And primarily, through either, you know, media communication, bill inserts, things like that, you know, that's sort of a common tool that is used, but there isn't anything specifically geared towards that customer base, appreciating that the conservation portfolio could change in the coming years as well.

MS. SEERS:  Thank you, those are our questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Ms. Seers.

Mr. Sidlofsky,   are you ready to proceed?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I am.  Thank you, panel.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Sidlofsky:

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good afternoon.  I'm going to be touching on four areas in my questions.  We'll start with capital expenditures and the distribution system plan.

We'll move on to OM&A, just a couple of questions -- the numbers been reduced, thanks to Mr. Rubenstein -- on cost of capital and, in particular, your long-term debt.

And finally, I'll be dealing with payments in lieu of taxes and your group 2 accounts.

So let's move to your distribution system plan.

Would you mind, Mr. Hesselink, opening up our compendium, please.

And I'll take you to page 5.

MR. MORAN:   Has this been marked as an exhibit yet?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No, it hasn't.  Thank you.  I get to do that, too.  I will mark that as Exhibit K1.4.  That's the Board Staff compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  BOARD STAFF COMPENDIUM.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:   Thanks.  Now, at page 5 we've included an extract from your MAADs application.  And at the time of that application EPCOR had indicated that the capital expenditure amounts through 2024 at the time of the next test year would reflect the status quo forecasts, and the projected status quo CAPEX for 2023 was 3.3 million, as you can see there.

You didn't project any savings, and you explained to the MAADs application that that was because the transaction involved an acquisition and not a consolidation, but you also weren't predicting any increases, and you said that you'd reviewed the Collus LDC distribution system plan and reviewed it and believed it   to be reasonable.

Can you confirm that?

MR. McCRANK:  Yes, we can confirm that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  And in the decision and order on the MAADS application the Board determined that EPCOR demonstrated reasonable consideration for the long-term impact to the transaction on customers and as a result determined that EPCOR met the no-harm test.

Just for your reference can you find that at page 8 of the Staff compendium if you do need to look at that.

And you've now estimated your test year capital -- CAPEX budget at 4.3 million and that's a 30 percent increase.

Could you tell me what effort EPCOR has made, not only for 2023 but in the years since you acquired Collus, to manage your budget, to align with what you represented in the MAADs application?  So I'm not -- I understand what you've spent over the years.  I'm wondering what you did to actually reign in your spending to align it with the forecast in the MAADs application.

MR. McCRANK:  So one of the things that EPCOR has brought to EEDO is a very good governance, capital governance program.  We have to internally seek approval for any project spend, and going through those gates there's a good, hard look at our schedule and our cost estimates associated with that.  

So I'd say that we've implemented cost controls to better discipline us around the projects that we do undertake, ensuring that we're providing value to our customers for the dollars we spend.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  When you did your capital budgeting, did you use the forecast in the MAADs application at all?  Did you look back at that and say Okay, this is what we estimated for this year.  What are we going to do, for example, about our 2019 spending?


MR. McCRANK:  I would say, more so, we would have used the DSP as the initial anchor point for us to pivot from, and each year we would, you know, examine the DSP, examine the forecast within the DSP, the projects that were planned within that year timeframe, and of course as in reality, project priority shifts around.  


Just to answer further to your question earlier, I guess, why those project priorities may shift around is that we have another initiative that we have undertaken is to improve our inspection asset data collection and asset condition assessment program.

And that's an ongoing process which we've undertaken to better -- to, you know, to better evaluate the condition of our assets and pinpoint where we -- where we should be spending those dollars.

That has a, you know, two-pronged effect.  One, it helps us to ensure that the dollars we're spending are the appropriate dollars, and that should help us with achieving forecasts.  But on the flip side of that, that also identifies where, perhaps, parts of the system have been under-invested-in.  And we have not hesitated as a company to invest in those dollars that are required for us to ensure that we're giving safe and reliable operation of the utility.

So, the DSP is our launching point from the budget and it will be on the go-forward as well.  That's the engineered plan document of which then we, on an annual basis when we're going through our budget process and getting our interim approvals for spend, we may pivot and some projects may get deferred, some projects may get added.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, when you are talking about the new process or when you were just talking about this new process, is that a process that's in place now?  Or is it one that's in the works to improve your methodology going forward?  I'm just trying to understand where you are in the development of that.

MR. McCRANK:  We're in the evolution.  And what I mean by that is that the process is in place, but it's -- it's ever-improving.  so I think you'll notice with our DSP we worked with METSCO to develop a condition assessment.

We are using a software of which they have developed that allows us to evaluate the condition assessment of poles and station transformers.  We want to add more assets to that condition assessment software so that we are ever improving.


So the process is in place but this is an evolution that is always improving year over year.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, thank you.  I'm going to move on to something that represents a significant part of your capital budget and it's not something that was really discussed at length with my friend Mr. Rubenstein.

So it is specifically your pole replacement program.  Actually both pole replacement and pole line rebuild projects.

By our calculation, that's about 1.9 million or 43 percent of the 4.3-million-dollar test year planned for -- that's the CAPEX plan and it's going toward the replacement of wood poles.  So I think we can agree it is a pretty specific -- or a pretty significant amount here.

I'll take you to page 11 of the Staff compendium, please.

At that page, and I'll have you stop right there, Mr. Hesselink, EPCOR -- and I probably should be referring to it as EEDO, but if I do say EPCOR, it is the utility.  It is the LDC.

So EDO noted that there will be approximately 463 poles in poor condition by the end of the DSP period.


Given the number of poles that you plan to replace. And that's significantly less than the 891 poles that are 

-- that were in poor or very poor condition at the time of the asset condition assessment.

Now in response to an OEB Staff question, and we can find that at page 12 of the compendium, EEDO stated that its long-term goal is -- oh, there we go -- its long-term goal is to address all of the -- excuse me, is to address all of the poles that are in poor condition.

So you conducted a survey in 2021 of your customers that found that the two -- excuse me, the top priorities for your customers were good reliability and affordability.

We can see at page 14 of the compendium that fewer than 50 percent of your customers believer that EPCOR provides good value for money.

And the survey results reproduced at the next page show that low cost is a primary concern to customers.

Could I ask you how you're balancing those top two customer priorities of cost and reliability, given that you're decreasing the number of poles in poor condition but you are increasing your test year capital spending by 28 percent over your average net spend from 2018 to 2022?


MR. McCRANK:  Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.  I guess I'd answer that in a couple of ways because there is a lot there, of course.  Are, and certainly you recognize our customers have two overarching priorities, number one that the lights come on and number two, that they're paying a reasonable cost for it.

Our program around pole line rebuilds -- and you'll note that there is a decrease in investment in pole line rebuilds as compared to the planned investment within 2019 to 2023 and so we have tried to balance the appropriate spend on pole line rebuilds with, you know, the resources that we have to bear in addition to the reliability benefit that we get from it.


So the increase in capital, the capital program is not attributed to us increasing our spend on the pole line rebuild program.  That's a continued program.

It is a necessary program, first and foremost for public safety.  And employee safety and of course the reliability that comes from that.

And as I mentioned earlier today, one of the priorities we feel our customers ask of us in -- and it's implied with their priority on reliability is to continue to harden the system and reinforce it.  And that's what the pole line rebuild program is for.  To ensure we are targeting the appropriate poles is why we've improved our inspection processes.  We now do resistograph testing.

We continue to add more and more poles to that system that that's been resistograph tested.

That's an industry best practice around determining the condition of the poles.  So it is not just an end-of-life, certainly an end-of-life basis for a pole line -- a pole replacement.  That's a way that we're managing the priority on cost versus our responsibility and accountability to ensure that we're getting the right poles and ensuring we have public safety in mind, employee safety and the reliability of the system in mind.

Maybe I'll stop there, and if you have some further questions on it.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I will have a couple questions about your resistograph testing and a couple of the other things you mentioned, but I'm going to start by asking about your pole-related outages, and if I can take you to page 16.  We've reproduced your response to interrogatory 2-Staff-97.

And when you were asked to break down the pole-related outages you stated that pole-related outages would fall under storm event or fallen trees.

But you didn't -- you didn't provide a breakdown of those outages.

If you don't have a breakdown of weather-related outages and how you would characterize the pole failures in relation to those outages and how you would characterize the pole failures in relation to those outages, how have you correlated the number of poles to be replaced in the DSP period to your reliability metrics?  I guess, put a different way, if you are not quite sure why the poles are coming down, how do you know how many poles to replace?

MR. McCRANK:  It is a good question, Mr. Sidlofsky.  I think the premise is we can't afford a pole-line failure.

That's a fairly catastrophic type of outage that -- if we incurred it, and so, you know, when it comes to our -- the reliability risk or the safety risk that we'll take in relation to a potential pole-line failure, it's -- there is not a lot of risk that utilities will take in that space, so that is why our program is very much premised on focusing on the poor or very poor-condition poles.  Is there a direct -- you know, I don't have an algorithm or an equation that demonstrates pole replacement to a, you know, a production in a point with SAIDI reliability index, for example.

It is more of an engineered assessment to say, you know, this is a risk that we just aren't willing to take.  We aren't willing to leave poles in very poor condition that we know about, subject to the increased storm activity that we're seeing and the -- then the increased public safety risk that would come with that.

So, yeah, maybe I'll stop there for the moment.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I had planned to ask you this in a couple of minutes, but maybe now is a good time to do it.

Could I take you to page 33, please.

Now, at page 33 there's a table or a group of tables that have been produced by Staff.

And I can tell you what the sources of those numbers are.  And perhaps, subject to check, you'll agree that we can go ahead with your questions.  But I will just give you a bit of background to that.

EPCOR provided the number of poles replaced as part of interrogatory 2 Staff 18 and the number of forecasted poles to be replaced as part of its business cases, and we reproduced part of interrogatory -- your response to interrogatory 2 Staff 18 at page 21 of the compendium, the forecasted pole replacements at page 10, and you also provided pole replacement costs in your Chapter 2 appendices and your forecasted project table, and we have those covered in our compendium as well at pages 22 and 6.

But if we can stick with the table that you've got open right now, subject to check, can you -- are you prepared to work with these numbers?

MR. McCRANK:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  So the one thing that comes to mind when you mentioned that you can't have pole lines come down is, in the -- in the forecasted costs and numbers of poles being replaced for the 2023 to '27 period, so if we could just scroll down a bit there, your numbers -- your numbers of poles to be replaced seem to bounce around a bit, which is a really unscientific way of mentioning that, I guess, but can you tell me why the numbers are moving like that?  I didn't get the sense that you had a specific plan for replacing poles in specific areas, for example, or areas of -- within your service area.

How have you come up with these numbers?

Sorry, in answering that, let's leave aside costs for now.  We can -- let's just talk about the numbers.

MR. McCRANK:  Okay.  That's -- it is a good question, and I know this came up in the IRs, and we'll take another shot at trying to explain some of the background behind these numbers, and then I'll ask my colleague, Mr. Burrell, to jump in as well at some point here to talk about the complexity of some of the projects.

So effectively, a pole-line project to pole-line project is -- sounds like it should be apples to apples, but it's not really an apples-to-apples comparison, and I can say in the numbers here with what we see up on the screen, if we looked at the earlier years to this current DSP period and then the DSP period we're going into, the scope of the projects has changed, and what I mean by that is -- I will speak just to the bottom one there, when I look at the 2023 to 2027 pole-line projects, as I mentioned earlier, we were tackling the more complex ones as a utility right now, and in 2023 you are seeing there is only 78 poles.  We're tackling rear-lock construction type of pole-line rebuilds, and I'll -- in a moment here I'll let Mr. Burrell explain that just for the folks to understand the complexities associated with that.

But there are fewer poles replaced, but the scope is much greater.  You have got crane involvement.  You've got restoration involvement.  And it is a much more complex project.

When I look at the 2019 to 2022 period, one of the things that EPCOR did in 2019 and a part of the capital spend in 2019 at -- you know, later on in 2019 is that we purchased some tension-stringing machines, and so that's not something the utility had in the past, and so when a utility -- when the utility went out and did pole-line rebuild projects in the past, they weren't able to change the conductor at the same time as changing the poles, and it is just not an efficient way to do it.  


And so with the purchase of the pole-line tension machines in later 2019, that gave our internal line crew the ability to change the conductor, and we have been changing the conductor from number 6 solid copper to 336 aluminum, and the reason I mention that is because it is, you know, something we wanted to highlight is -- I guess with that is that it's -- that type of conductor gives us increased capacity, and it is sort of a step in the direction of preparing for electrification, so it gives us -- it's just a -- it is a smart thing to do while you're up in the air changing poles or going through all that effort, is to do that.

So, I highlight that it isn't an apples to apples.  The scope behind these projects is different.

The estimates behind -- I know where this data comes from, and I -- you know, we're looking at this, of course, appreciate this coming to us last night, but the -- you know, the -- if you take the total pole cost, for example, in 2023 of the 1.858 million and divide it by 78 you are going to get a high per pole cost, but you can't compare that to 2012, when the scope behind that project in 2023 or the projects we're doing in 2023 are much more elaborate and have much more behind them.

And I will just, if I can, just to reinforce this a little bit, I will let Mr. Burrell just talk a little bit about the rear-lot construction projects that we've decided to undertake.

MR. BURRELL:  Thanks, Darren.  Good afternoon, Mr. Sidlofsky.

Yeah, in reference to projects in 2023, these are mostly rear-lot projects, in essence.  We have poles primary and transformers in rear lots.  Very difficult to access.  It is going to take a lot of extra contractors, if you will, civil contractors, cranes, to get the poles into place.

Meanwhile, we'll be going to cedar poles instead of the usual pine ones for this for longevity, and much lighter to work with for our staff.

So even though it is much fewer poles in 2023 than years going out from there, '24, '5, '6, and '7, the cost has gone up significantly for those reasons.  They are just tough jobs to do, but they are also important jobs to do, these rear lots, old poles from the '50s and '60, number 6 solid copper on them, transformers under (inaudible) under secondary, so important projects for us to do.

'24 through '27, these fall more in line with the resistograph test change we've been doing previously for projects in Stayner, Creemore and also in Thornbury.  I think the number of poles we do evens out somewhat or averages out a little bits more over those years as They're much more accessible to get to and easer to work on as I think the costs show.


Was there anything else you'd like me too to answer on that?  I'd be happy to do so I.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  There is.  So, for 2023 are all of the poles rear lot replacements?


MR. BURRELL:  No, I believe three of the four projects are.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, because I'm seeing -- let's say we can agree that the 2023 project's more complex.  I'm not necessarily agreeing that, but let's say we can.  Have you got more rear lot projects coming up in 2024 to '27?


MR. BURRELL:  Yes we will have more coming up, I believe in '25 -- '25, '26.  I don't have the chart in front of me, but there are a couple of more rear lot projects in Collingwood that need to be completed.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  But your unit costs, your average unit costs seem to have settled down a bit after 2023.


Can you explain that, if you are still doing rear lot projects in those later years?


MR. BURRELL:  Just the number of poles that need follow done are fewer in the later years.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The number of rear lot poles?


MR. BURRELL:  Correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you also mentioned, and I'm not sure if it was you or Mr. McCrank, you are doing more projects that are involved in the circuit as well now, correct?


MR. BURRELL:  Yes, that's correct.  Previously we -- the old company didn't have the equipment to string and conduct, if it was required at times, so just the poles would have been changed and the insulators that would have reused conductors, reused transformers.  


Now we're upgrading in terms of we bought tension stringing equipment, as Daryn mentioned, in 2019.  Putting up new transformers, getting rid of the two dual-bushing insulated transformers that used to use mostly for delta systems, not the safest things for our guys to work on.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So have you been restringing line since 2019, then, when you bought that equipment?  Has the scope of those projects changed since 2019?


MR. BURRELL:  Yeah, I would say yes, in the sense of as I say adding conductor, changing out transformers, at times doing some bigger projects now that we have these machines.


MR. McCRANK:  If I may, Mr. Sidlofsky, I would just like to add one more item, just to highlight that one of the anomalies that we looked at in this data is -- I think it was 2016, you will notice there was 186 poles replaced.  


So from that, our assessment just like to highlight that at the time Bell was doing the Bell fibre project, Fibre to the Home project, and they were carrying out some level of the scope.  So it again plays into why you are seeing a pretty low anomaly there from a cost-per-pole standpoint, or a unit cost for the pole line rebuilds, is that Bell had been contributing to those pole-line rebuild projects for their -- for their purposes of bringing fibre to the home.


That happened really within 2015, as I understand, 2015 and 2017 timeframe, but 2016 was a heavy year for that project.


I just wanted to highlight that just in case people were wondering.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So you are suggesting that that's -- I guess you could say artificially reducing your costs per pole?


MR. McCRANK:  You could say that, yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, just a question or two about the resistograph testing or the resistograph inspections.


In METSCO's asset condition assessment -- and we've reproduced that at page 19 of the compendium -- we are seeing that EPCOR only has 20 percent of the information on the remaining pole strength for wood poles.


I assume that means that you've got information on the remaining pole strength for only 20 percent of you wood poles; is that right?


I'm looking in the wood pole category of table 0-2 and the line that says remaining pole strength 20 percent.


MR. McCRANK:  Could you ask the question again, Mr. Sidlofsky?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Does that mean that you only have information on 20 percent of your wood poles, as it relates to remaining pole strength?  I'm trying to understand what that 20 percent means in that table.


MR. McCRANK:  Two moments.  


[Witness panel confers.]


Yes, that is what the 20 percent would be pertaining to.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, so you have information on 20 percent of your wood poles.  I believe that if I --


MR. McCRANK:  No, if I could -- sorry, the 20 percent -- the 20 percent is what we believe it's meant to reflect is that's the remaining pole strength, just in -- as an average for our -- the pole -- those wood poles.


Just give us another two moments, please.


[Witness panel confers.]


So, Mr. Sidlofsky, we'd like to correct ourselves.  When it comes to data available index, the DAI, that's correct, basically.  With regards to the wood poles, remaining pole strength as a factor, we have 20 percent of that information, or 20 percent of the 5,597 poles we have the
the remaining pole strength information.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So I think I was right.  You only have information on 20 percent -- information on remaining pole strength of only 20 percent of your poles, correct?


MR. McCRANK:  Correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, one question that comes to mind is how you chose which poles to test.


I think that METSCO said you've only got resistograph test data for only one-third of all of your in-service poles.


MR. McCRANK:  Correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that comes from -- there is a reference to it or reference to the METSCO report at page 32 of the compendium.  Can you tell meal how EPCOR chose which poles to test?


MR. BURRELL:  Yes.  We had been doing asset assessments on these poles, visual ones, so we went off of that information.  We also looked at areas of old poles, like the, as I mentioned earlier before, ones from the '50s and '60s, as well as areas with small conductor or what we deemed to be dangerous conductor, number 6 copper, number 4ACSR.  We started with those to clean those up for safety and reliability issues.


The other thing that we looked at as well was our high priority poles, our 44 kV feeder poles.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And right on the page you're at, on page 32, second line of the second paragraph we can see on the screen, METSCO says that:

"EPCOR Ontario aimed at conducting resistograph test on all distribution wood poles that are older than 20 years of age."


Now, you haven't done that at this point.  METSCO says that the majority of wood poles beyond 20 years of age were not tested, and some poles tested were younger than 20 years of age.


Can you tell me why that hasn't been done yet and what you plan to about it?


MR. BURRELL:  Yes, we do tests about 250 to 300 poles per year.  I believe it is through a third-party contractor that does that for us.


There are -- we did have them start, if they were on the street that's got poles that are over 20 years old, we ask them to test everything while they're there, the reason being we have come across some of the newer poles, the green poles or for that matter SVP poles, they are only 10 or 15 years old and they're rotten at the bottom, at ground level.  So we thought it was worthwhile while they were in the area to test everything while they're there.


It may delay us getting all the poles older than 20 years tested, but we deemed it appropriate from some of the other failures we were seeing.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, when METSCO conducted a 2021 asset condition assessment detailing the condition of the wood poles, they didn't provide an action plan to you, did they, as part of that asset condition assessment?

MR. McCRANK:  They didn't provide an action plan, but, you know, as noted on the screen, they did provide recommendations to us that, you know, as I mentioned earlier, to continue to evolve, continue to add assets to the asset condition methodologies so that we're -- better appropriately choosing where to deploy the capital.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  They haven't given you any action plan since then, have they?  It's now in your hands, is that it?

MR. McCRANK:  It's in our hands now, yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

MR. McCRANK:  We do continue to work with METSCO's subsidiary engine.  Engine is the engineering intelligence module that they've built, that this condition assessment platform is based on.

MR. BURRELL:  If I could just add to that as well.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sure.

MR. BURRELL:  We do have some of our own in-house plan when we do the resistograph testing.  Any poles that do come back as failures, we do have a plan to -- we put four quarters together to have those addressed within that ESA audit year for that matter, so we do have somewhat of a plan for when we get data back that says a pole is at the failure place.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thanks for that.

I'll take you to page 23 of the compendium, please.

And we've reproduced your response to interrogatory 2-Staff-95.

Staff asked you about the increase in the unit cost of pole replacements between 2013 to 2018 and 2019 to 2022 for those two periods.

And in the preamble to that interrogatory we observed that the average pole replacement cost almost doubled between those two periods.

Specifically, the average moved from roughly 7,400 to $14,100.

Now, you didn't address the question specifically.  You only talked about your expected 2023 costs, and those costs were increasing because of, in large part, because of the rear pole -- excuse me, the rear yard pole replacements, but I'd still appreciate an answer to that question.

Could you tell me why the unit costs have gone up so much from the 2019 to 2022 period to the 2013 to -- compared to the 2013 to 2018 period?

MR. McCRANK:  Yes, Mr. Sidlofsky, that's just a -- I tried to answer that a little bit earlier but recognized that we didn't answer that appropriately in this response in just addressing the 2023 but, again, just coming back to the scope differences between projects undertaken between the 2013 to 2018 period and then the 2019 to 2022 period, the scope changes, Mr. Burrell had mentioned, one piece of scope that changed was that the pole line projects that we do now were often changing the conductor size or the conductor at the same time, the line transformers at the same time.

In the past, that, you know, we understand that utility did not do that scope on every pole line project and just changed the poles, changed the insulators, but used the remaining -- or the existing conductor and transformers in place, so we've increased the scope associated with these things, and again, as I mentioned, one of the years there that would sort of skew that average is the 2016 year, of which there were a great number of poles replaced but heavily contributed to by Bell.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Right, and you did explain the Bell anomaly -- excuse me.

Were you doing rear-lot -- sorry, and so just to make sure I understand, some of this is attributable to a change in -- a change from Collus to EPCOR in terms of the approach to these projects and the scope of the projects.

Are you aware of whether rear-lot projects were being done in the 2013 to 2018 period?

MR. BURRELL:  No, there was none going on at that time.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, and 2019 to 2022?

MR. BURRELL:  We did one last year.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  And you will be happy to know that I'm just about finished with questions about poles and pole lines, but not quite yet.

METSCO identified 891 poles in poor or very poor condition.  And -- actually, just a question to the panel, to our commissioners.

It is now 2:50.  I can take the break now or I can finish dealing with poles and -- probably in about 10 minutes, and break then.

MR. MORAN:  Why don't we go ahead and take the break know, Mr. Sidlofsky, for ten minutes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 2:51 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:02 p.m.


MR. MORAN:  Okay, Mr. Sidlofsky, ready to continue.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Sorry, if you just bear with me for a moment here just -- a small technical issue on my end.  Thanks.  Apologies for that.

If I could just follow up on a question I had asked earlier about whether METSCO had provided an action plan.

Without an action plan, how is did you are deciding on your projects in a given year?  For example, more specifically, three out of your four projects in the test year, rear lot ,projects which is what's pushing up your average cost per pole this year, how did you decide on those three projects?  Or, I suppose overall the four projects for this year, but I'm thinking rear lots because you've said that that's what really increases your costs.

MR. BURRELL:  Yes, Mr. Sidlofsky, sorry about the delay there.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It's okay.

MR. BURRELL:  So we started to go a resistograph testing, I believe it was in 2017 and since then we've been using that data to help us determine part of our capital projects.

Most of our testing has been done in our outlying areas, Stayner, Creemore.  They have the oldest systems in place.  We had done some in Collingwood.  The three back lot projects were captured in that.  And the majority of those poles tested poorly or failed, so that's why we decided we wanted to get these ones done.  Again like I was mentioning earlier, not very reliable or safe for either other customers or our workers.  

Number 6 solid copper breaks easy.  Hazard in people's backyards if it comes under down.  Underslung transformers, we can't work on the secondary the way they are.


So there was some data behind it.  There was also a big safety and reliability issue for those areas.

MR. McCRANK:  Mr. Sidlofsky, if I could add a little bit more to Mr. Burrell's answer there.

So as stated in our distribution system plan associated with our DSP is that we do have a risk-ranking process that we go through, and I believe we did submit that as an appendix or as a support to one of our -- attachment to one of our IRRs, pardon me, one of our IRs -- thank you, got it.

In that, it ranks the projects, following our asset management process.  and of course the intent of that is to take the subjectivity out of, you know, prioritizing projects and we use a value matrix and we use a risk matrix that ends up spitting out a score at the end of the day that prioritizes our projects.


And so that is a, you know, and that's revisited on an annual basis but that becomes one of the tools that we use to ensure that we are prioritizing the appropriate projects from a chronological standpoint.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, and I suspect that answer is going to have -- is going to relate a bit to the answer you may be giving me to this question.  But METSCO identified 891 poles in poor or very poor condition, and your plan is to replace 548 of those when -- over the period of this DSP.

You've suggested that the average replacement costs, and therefore, the overall capital expenditure for replacement of those poles is going to be higher because of the rear lot replacements.

Now it seems to me -- and I'm going to ask you for your thoughts on this. -- it seems to me like you might have a couple of options here.  One is that you could reduce the overall number of poles being replaced because you won't be replacing all 891 in this planned period anyway, and that would reduce your overall pole replacement CAPEX.

If I look at page 11 of the compendium in your response to interrogatory 2-Staff-21D, after you replace 548, you are still going to have 343 poles in poor or very poor condition at the end of the planned period, and there will be others that drop into those categories during the plan period.

Another, I believe, at least 120 poles will drop to very poor condition, according to your response.

So, if you were to even out your expenditures or the number of poles you are replacing over the plan periods, that would -- for example, to 500 in each period, that would reduce your overall spend by about $860,000 over this period and $160,000 in the test year.

First of all, does my math sound right to you?  And, second, why is that not a reasonable approach?

MR. McCRANK:  So subject to check, in regards to the math, again I think you must be taking the project cost and just simply dividing by the number of poles and then, you know, taking those poles, again, and, if it you eliminate X number of poles by that unit cost, is that how you're getting to that figure that you are coming up with which is the savings?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Right.

MR. McCRANK:  Do I understand?  Thank you.  So to answer the question, you know, we are identifying the highest risk project areas.  If we defer any of those projects, which arguably can be done, all we're messing with there is the risk that we're taking.  

So we're addressing the very poor, poorly conditioned poles, the highest priority of those, attempting to, with, you know, the best assessment that we can provide in doing that, in addressing the ones that come up on our priority matrix as having, you know, first and foremost probably the heaviest weight will come with safety, so addressing the ones that have safety risk at its highest.  We're addressing those projects.  

If we were to spread that out any further, it's -- as I say, we're just taking on more risk.  And so in all these cases it is a risk assessment as to what -- which projects do we take on, which projects do we not?  

An When it comes to our asset management practice, poles that are deemed to as in poor and very poor condition are the poles that we want to address, I will say that, you know, the -- in the risk assessment of 343 today, poorly conditioned poles that will potentially drop into very poor state, and statistically -- and this number was provided by METSCO that, you know, another 120 poles would drop to this condition --  that's an assessment.  That's not a, you know, a hard number.  There could be more.  

And so my concern with deferring projects is we'll end up where we were five years ago with quite a lot of scope to do and not the resources to get it done.


And so an answer that we provided earlier today is that we've tried to -- we have tried to spread our pole line rebuild projects out so that we're not in a situation where we're trying to get too much common one year and we end up deferring year over year over year, which has happened in the past.

We think we've appropriately spread these projects out to ensure that we can execute on them, execute the highest risk projects, and be in a position with the next DSP period to take on the priority projects that are going to be -- we're going to be faced with then.

So I don't think it would be wise for us to defer any of these projects further than what our current plan has.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I expect I'm going to get a similar answer to this option but I'll ask about it anyway.

The fact is that -- I mean according to you the rear yard replacements are more expensive.

If you were to place a similar number of poles in each year by spread out the number of rear lot replacements so they're not -- you are not doing as many of those in the test year, that could also balance out annual spending a little bit differently.

Have you considered that?  And I guess, to put that question a different way, have you given any thought to deferring any of the three rear yard projects that you've spoken about for the test year?

MR. McCRANK:  We haven't, and the reason being is again, when I look at those risk matrix, those ones are higher on our risk matrix.  As in they are riskier projects for us to defer.

You know, I -- again, I come back to highlighting.  If you look at the system renewal of the pole line rebuild, we have tried to -- it's not a bigger spend.

It is, yes, they are rear lot scope, and the cost per pole from a project standpoint is higher in 2023, but again, as we discussed there, that's the complexity of the project.

The scope behind the project, the equipment required, the restoration works required, you know, that Mr. Burrell spoke about, but we're attempting to do $2 million -- approximately $2 million of pole line rebuilds a year, because that's a figure of which we think we can accomplish and address the risk.

That's -- so I don't think we are trying to spend more in 2023.  It might look so from a unit basis on how you've approached our cost per pole standpoint, but when I look at it from a system renewal program standpoint, it is spread out evenly over the five-year period.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Do you have any more current cost estimates for the pole replacement program or the pole line rebuild projects, or is what you've -- what's already filed with the Board your most current estimates?

MR. McCRANK:  Those are our most current estimates.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  I'm going to stop talking.  Sorry?

MR. McCRANK:  I would like to add, if I may just, if I may --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Just when I was going to stop talking.  Sorry.  Go ahead.

MR. McCRANK:  I know.  It is risky on my part, but I just wanted to add that a question you asked earlier is, what are our internal processes to ensure that we're optimizing that spend.

So that's our most current estimate.  I will tell you when we go through our budget process now, the next step for us to do is to revisit those budgets as we go through the process, and there'll be internal gates that we have to go through.

My experience, some projects go up, some projects go down through that exercise, but right now those are -- those estimates that we've put forward are our best estimates.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, and I wasn't going to stop talking completely.  I was simply going to stop talking about pole replacements.

In terms of your overall test, your CAPEX forecast, it is $4.3 million, where your average forecasted capital expenditure over the DSP period is 4.05 million.

Leaving aside pole replacements, because I think I have your views on those, did you consider deferring any projects from the test year to levellize your forecasted spending, since your test-year net capital spend is going to be about close to $250,000 greater than average?

MR. McCRANK:  I wonder if, to answer that, Mr. Sidlofsky, I wonder if I could ask Mr. Hesselink to bring up our -- one of the items from your -- it was in the compendium.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It may be page 61, which is your forecasted projects table.

MR. McCRANK:  It is in the compendium.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, page 6 of compendium.  I'm sorry.

MR. McCRANK:  That's the one, yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It is page 61 of your DSP.

MR. McCRANK:  So we've talked about -- Mr. Sidlofsky, we've talked about the system renewal program and our attempt to spread that out so that we're executing on the projects.

So if, Mr. Hesselink, if you could just scroll down a little bit, one of the things that we've done in this DSP period is increased our spend on system service.

And obviously that's intentionally done.  We've got some lumpy projects I spoke about earlier that are taking place in 2023.

And those two are the ArcPro and utility network migration projects, ArcPro GIS migration and the utility network migration project, and the Stayner MS1, MS2 station upgrades.

So certainly we -- in developing this program, we looked at all options as far as spreading projects out.

It so happens that those two projects, it is necessary for us to tackle those this year.  If anything, I'd love to be able to do MS2, Stayner MS2, this year as well, given we're at the municipal station.  But that's our attempt again to spread that out.

I'd love to address Thornbury, as we spoke about this morning.  If I had my druthers I wouldn't -- I would not like to wait two or three years to get the Thornbury stations upgraded because, again, we run blind with those MSs right now, and that's the same for MS7.

So we are attempting to spread these projects out and we're addressing the -- we'll talk about the municipal stations first, we are addressing the highest priority municipal station transformer first with Stayner.

That's the one where we've identified within our IR responses that we have some capacity concerns with the growth in the Stayner market and the Stayner community.

And in regards to the ArcPro utility network migration, I know that was one of the IRs, as well, as, is -- could that be spread out.

We have some concerns on that project.  The Arc map, the existing software, is moving to mature state of support, and if the purpose for us in making that migration or that upgrade this year and moving to the utility network migration is that we will, again, run a risk of operating on a software platform that is at mature and limited state of support coming from ESRI, the vendor, a common vendor used among various utilities.

And it becomes a risk assessment again.  If we wait until 2024 to tackle those projects, you know, you are working on a software platform that is no longer being assessed for vulnerability, no longer is being patched by the vendor, it increases your cyber-security risk, and so we feel it's necessary for us to tackle that project now.

Even moving that into 2024, again, increasing that risk, we are already at 4.4 in -- 4 point -- almost $4.5 million spend in 2024.

It is really not an option for us to push that out to 2025, because then we are an era where the software is no longer supported, not just in mature state.  And that's a risk that we don't want to take.

So then I back ourselves up.  That's why we're at sort of a lumpy 2023, but you can see that we have -- you know, that's -- the test year is not our highest spend.

We have spaced it out, and 2024 ends up being our highest spend.

So coming back to answer the question is that we did look at that, and I hope what I've provided is the rationale as to why we've landed with some of those bigger spends that are different than other years, why we're trying to get those accomplished in 2023.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  You mentioned Stayner.  I just have one or two questions about that.

At page 26 of the compendium we've reproduced your response to interrogatory 2, Staff 31C -- actually, sorry, B and C, and I believe that we can see a combined peak load of 5.9 megawatts for Stayner MS1 1 and MS2; is that right?

MR. BURRELL:  Subject to confirmation, yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yeah.  That is in the response to 31C.

What is the -- what's the current capacity of those transformers?

MR. BURRELL:  They are 5 megawatts each.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So 10 megawatts and they are running at 5.9.

Now, I'm not an engineer, I'm not a mathematician, so -- so my understanding, though, is that if the peak load is below the rating for those facilities, there is still capacity in those stations, correct?

MR. BURRELL:  There is capacity in the stations, but our concern is there are only two substations in Stayner.

If we lose one of these, the other one could not run the whole town on its own, especially with load growth that is expected there.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  When are you expecting that growth?

MR. BURRELL:  Well, I think if we looked at what the peak is now, it has already surpassed it times.  It's capacity of one of them, and currently there is an ongoing subdivision that is going to add about approximately another 100 homes over the next year.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm going to ask a question that's been passed along to me from one of my engineering colleagues, so I'll apologize if I get it wrong, but I'm also disclaiming responsibilities for the question.

So can you confirm if the transformers in MS1 and MS2 are oil natural, air natural, oil natural, air forced, or oil -- or, excuse me, oil forced, air forced?

MR. BURRELL:  I would have to take that away to confirm that for you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, and I'll tell you what my question is as well.  I'm looking for the transformer rating with and without the fans running, if they're oil natural air forced or oil forced, air forced?

MR. BURRELL:  Yeah, we'll confirm.  I don't believe there are fans on those transformers, but we'll confirm.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm going to take that as undertaking J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO CONFIRM TRANSFORMER RATINGS WITH AND WITHOUT FANS RUNNING


If you could bear with me, I am trying to reduce the number of questions I have left for you on fund CAPEX.

At page 28 of the Staff compendium we have reproduced your response to interrogatory 2-Staff-19.

And in particular, in that response, you gave an explanation about the variance between the planned capital investment summary in the 2019 to 2023 DSP, the MAADs application, and the 2023 to 2027 DSP for the period of 2019 to 2023.  

I'm hoping you can explain the variance between the planned amounts of CAPEX in the 2029 DSP compared to the 2023 to 2027 DSP for specifically for the years 2021 and 2022.

MR. McCRANK:  Pardon me, I'm not sure I understand the question.  I know when I -- when we read this the first time through, the only year that was similar to them all was 2023.  So I think that may have been now how the response was generated was just looking at the years and explaining the years at 2023.  Because the only 2023 to 2027 DSP period has the 2023.  The 2019 to 23 has the MAAD application has the 2023.  But otherwise none of the years would be a in all three.

So I don't know if I -- pardon me, Mr. Sidlofsky, I'm not sure I understand the question.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Are the years 2021 and 2022 referred to in more than one of those -- more than one of those plans?

MR. McCRANK:  Yes, they would be in the 2019 to 2023 DSP and within the MAAD application.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Are they consistent?

MR. McCRANK:  Subject to check, I think the -- I believe we looked at earlier, that I'd have to I guess pull up maybe the MAAD application again to see what's in the MAAD.  But the DSP is a -- the 2019 to 2023 DSP was an updated forecast at that point from, from the MAAD forecast that would have been done in 2017, '18 because we talked about it earlier the 2019 DSP was built 2018, 2019, I believe.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, if I can take you to page 31 is the compendium.  We've reproduced the capital expenditure summary that's Appendix 2AB.  You'll see that at the top of that page.  

It looks like EPCOR has been showing an average capital under-spend of 15 percent across the 2013 to 2022 period in its entirety.  Do you have an explanation for that?

MR. McCRANK:  I'll just reiterate something that I raised earlier, is that I think between 2013 and 2018 Collus had a capital spending forecast of 17.6 million, only spent 12 million.  In talking to the former Collus employees, what we've understood is a couple of things played into why the under-spend.  One, they were under-resourced at the time.  There was a difficult time holding on to staff, there was a staff retention issue with the line crew personnel, as we understand.  That would obviously impact their ability to deliver on the system renewal projects.

The 2018 -- sorry, pardon me, 2018 was a year as I understand where there was some rains -- you know, it was rains, there was a year where there was a lot of cloud, smoke, associated with the acquisition.  So I understand that some programs didn't move ahead as a result of that.  That can create some level of uncertainty.

I will say though, with EPCOR's involvement from the years 2019 to 2022, and I just want to make sure I get my figures correct here -- pardon me a moment -- but I think the plan was 14.2 million and well, you know, year over year, there were some variances we delivered, 14.2 million of capital.

And that's not including the bucket truck that we talked about earlier that unfortunately has, due to supply chain issues, slipped into early 2023.

So, all that to say is that we have confidence in our ability to deliver the capital program that we've put forward here between 2023 and 2027.  It's justified.  We have the resources in place.  We've resourced the system renewal.  The system service projects are primarily contracted projects.  We've been able to execute with our contractors.  We have confidence in our contractors' ability.


so we think we've resolved the issues associated with historic under-spend.  We think we've justified the program we've put forward and have the ability to deliver on it.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  By my calculation, your under-spending is still running around 4 percent on average between 2018 and 2022.

Now, I understand that that's -- that's less than the 15 percent average across that entire 2013 to 2022 period.  Are you suggesting though that your forecasting is -- or your ability to match your spending to your budget is getting better --


MR. McCRANK:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  -- over time?


MR. McCRANK:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm going to move on to OM&A, so that's it for poles.  That's it for capital.

I will take you to page 37 of the compendium.  I'm going to try avoiding duplication with Mr. Rubenstein's questions.  Some of it may be a little unavoidable, but I will do what I can and that will shorten things for us on this section as well.


Now, at that page we reproduced your response to interrogatory 4-SEC-34.

And in that response you had provided a table showing EPCOR distribution's shared services costs, and you added a row for Alectra, because it had provided certain services to EEDO from 2013 to 2018.  We've highlighted that Alectra line there.

That was in addition to the other service providers originally included in that table.  

At page 39 of the compendium we can see that Alectra was EEDO's former 50 percent shareholder and provided system control operation services to EEDO, at that time called Powerstream, at an annual cost of $26,400.

That's according to a services agreement between EEDO and Alectra -- excuse me, Collus Powerstream and Alectra.

First of all, can you confirm that that 26,400-dollar annual cost is included in the Alectra row in the response to 4-SEC-34?


MR. KOSKI:  Yes, I can confirm.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And what other services were provided by Alectra?


MR. KOSKI:  The only other service that was material, that included in costs would have been support for the CDM 
program, the conservation demand management program, so Alectra would have provided those services on behalf of Collus at the time, and that would have been a cost that Alectra flowed through to the utility.

And then other than that, very minor, a couple of thousand dollars of one-off services here and there.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And the -- sorry, the services that had been provided by Alectra, how have they been picked up since the acquisition?  Excuse me, are they being provided by an EPCOR affiliate or are they being provided in-house now?

MR. KOSKI:  Sure, so the only service of consequence would have been the other one that you noted that EPCOR -- EEDO's affiliate, EDTI, is providing for the system control work.  Other than that, the CDM costs are no longer borne by the utility.  I believe that the ISO has taken over management of that program.

So the one remaining services being provided by an affiliate of EEDO.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  And just staying on that table at page 37, can you confirm if there is any portion of the affiliate or corporate shared services costs in that 2013 -- in the entire 2013 to '23 period that's been included in Appendix 2K, which would be employee costs?

MR. KOSKI:  So for the period since EEDO was acquired by EPCOR, none of the shared service costs are included in the appendix, and just give me one quick second.

And Mr. Sidlofsky, sorry, for the period prior to EPCOR acquiring the utility, I'm not 100 percent sure if those shared service costs were included that in appendix or not.  We'd have to confirm that.

I believe they are, but not I'm not 100 percent sure.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Can you give me an undertaking to look into that and advise?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, we can.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I will tell you why I'm asking this.

I'm asking because in response to 4 Staff 49, and I have it at -- we have it at page 40 of the compendium, you said that the FTE data in Appendix 2K excluded shared service resources, but the application also said that 2013 OEB-approved FTE of 22.92 FTEs included 9.35 allocated from Collus Solutions, so we're just -- we are trying to confirm that there is no double-counting of shared services with your employee numbers in Appendix 2K.

MR. KOSKI:  Understood, yeah, we'll confirm that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Sidlofsky, just for the record, can you put the undertaking number --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry, I thought I did.  I apologize.  That is J1.5.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO ADVISE IF THE SHARED SERVICES COSTS WERE INCLUDED IN THE APPENDIX.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm going to ask you to confirm a couple of things about the building lease payment to Collingwood PUC.

At page 36 of the compendium we've reproduced a part of your application, Exhibit 4, tab 1, Schedule 1, page 89.

And you noted there that the $216,000 building lease payment to Collingwood PUC in 2013 was moved from OM&A to rate base since the acquisition.  And we've highlighted that for you on page 36, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.

So without the building lease cost, the total 2013 actual shared services cost would have been $1,405,000 instead of the 1,000,621 shown in response to IR -- sorry, interrogatory 4, Schools 34A, and that's at -- sorry, that is at -- bear with me for a moment, because I have the wrong page number here.  That will be at page 37 of the Staff compendium.

MR. KOSKI:  Yeah, subject to confirmation, yeah, that looks like about the right math.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Could I take you to page 45 of the compendium, please?

MR. KOSKI:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks.  Staff assembled that table based on the summary table that you provided in response to 4 Schools 32.

And we then included 1 percent reduction rate rider amounts based on the MAADs application interrogatories.

Are those numbers familiar to you?

MR. KOSKI:  Umm...

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  As you can see, we have the sources for each of those lines in the left-hand column.

MR. KOSKI:  Yeah.  Yeah.  These numbers look familiar, yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  So if we look at the last row of that table, we've made adjustments from actual to status quo based on the 1 percent -- 1 percent rate rider there.

Now, in response to interrogatory 4 Schools 32B -- and that's 42 and 43 of the compendium -- you explained the reason for the variance or the reasons for the variance between 2019 to '23 actuals and the status quo forecast, and you explained that the status quo forecast was based on a 2018 budget with an annual inflation escalator added each year.

Now, you attributed the increases relative to the status quo to a number of reasons.  First -- and I will just summarize them here as I get to my question -- adding EPCOR affiliate shared services and corporate shared services allowed you to remove certain positions from the distributor, and it offset some services previously shared with Alectra and the Town of Collingwood.

Second, you had lower OM&A costs due to overhead capitalization procedures or updates to those procedures.

Third, there was customer growth.

Fourth, there were remediation costs incurred in 2020.  There were Covid-19 risk mitigation costs that increased OM&A in 2020.  And there was additional operations head count for an inspector and locator position.

Those are the reasons you gave, but when I look at those items, some of them seem to suggest, actually, reduced costs as opposed to increased costs.

So what I'm asking you to do -- and I'm assuming you will want to deal with it by way of an undertaking -- is to summarize for each year of 2019 to 2023 in which areas there have been savings relative to the status quo and in which areas there have been additional costs relative to the status quo.

And with respect to each area, I'd like you to provide the net saving or cost dollar amount.  And after that can you calculate the net savings or costs for the year and reconcile that to the variance from the actual to status quo that's shown in the Staff table. 


I hope I was clear with that request and you can provide the information.

MR. KOSKI:  No, and this is essentially the table that you're suggesting on page 46 of the compendium?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's right.  We're expecting it or we're anticipating it to look something like that, so you're welcome to -- you're welcome to complete a table like that if it -- if it would help.  It would certainly help us.

MR. KOSKI:  Okay, if you could just give us a moment please, Mr. Sidlofsky.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. KOSKI:  Thank you, for the time, Mr. Sidlofsky.  EEDO would be amenable to this undertaking.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  I'm going to give it a number.

That will be Undertaking J1.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO COMPLETE THE TABLE PROVIDED AT PAGE 45 OF THE OEB STAFF COMPENDIUM AND FOR EACH AREA WHERE MATERIAL ADDITIONAL COSTS WERE INCURRED, WE'D LIKE YOU TO EXPLAIN WHY THE INCREMENTAL PORTION OF THE COST WAS NECESSARY AND WHAT BENEFIT OR VALUE THAT INCREMENTAL COST PROVIDED TO CUSTOMERS, WITH A MATERIALITY THRESHOLD OF $10,000.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I will -- what I will suggest -- go ahead?


MR. KOSKI:  No, no, go ahead.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  What I was going to suggest is that the undertaking be that you complete the table provided at page 45 of the OEB Staff compendium and for each area where material additional costs were incurred, we'd like you to explain why the incremental portion of the cost was necessary and what benefit or value that incremental cost provided to customers; are you prepared to do that?

MR. KOSKI:  If I could just get clarification, I have to admit --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mm-hmm.

MR. KOSKI:  -- sometimes the term "material" I don't always fully comprehend.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I have an answer for that.  I thought you might wonder.  What we mean by "material" is, is relative to your materiality threshold, which is $10,000.

MR. KOSKI:  Sorry, maybe just to make sure I understand the request.

The materiality level is low, so I want to make sure I understand, fully understand what we're agreeing to in terms of what you're looking for, for explanations from a materiality standpoint.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, are you asking me or...

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, sorry, yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, what we're interested in is, from the way I framed the question to begin with, there are certain costs that have gone up and certain costs that have gone down.

Overall your OM&A costs are higher, but on a more category-specific basis there are changes that go up and down.

We'd like to understand those changes better.  We'd like to understand what -- where there have been material increases, we'd like to understand, first of all, what they are, and second how they -- what value those incremental amounts provide to customers.

Is your concern that the 10,000-dollar threshold, which is your materiality threshold, is too low to provide -- for you to be able to provide that explanation or do you have another concern?  I'm trying to understand why your own materiality threshold is problematic.

MR. KOSKI:  It's just the 10,000-dollar threshold level, while required, is a very low threshold for us.  But fair enough, I think I understand.

As mentioned, yeah, I believe that we can proceed with the undertaking, but we will note and continue to note, as provided in the filing, comparison to status quo forecast, we're not really sure how meaningful that is.

We've very clearly, within our filing articulated the cost levels that we've incurred and require to operate the utility.

As a matter of fact, we'll reiterate the cost levels that we're looking at are cost levels that we have been incurring since we required control of the utility.

So we are just looking for a rebasing of the prudent and reliable costs, or the costs required for prudent and reliable operation of the utility.

We're not looking for extra costs in the test period above and beyond what's been incurred.  It's costs that we've incurred since we've taken over the utility.  But yes, we he can take that undertaking.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So once again that is J1.6.

I'll take you to page 47 of the compendium, please.  Now, in your response to Schools' pre-settlement conference clarification question number 5, and it relates to interrogatory 4 -- excuse me, 4-SEC-32, you noted that there were two additional corporate services provided which weren't contemplated in the original forecast, and those were learning and developments and technical training.  That's one and the other was organizational program -- excuse me, project management.

Could you tell me why those services had to be provided by EUI?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, sure.  So those two areas, historically we hadn't had or the EPCOR group of companies didn't have a shared service group that provided those services to the subsidiaries.

Largely the costs were embedded within -- within the existing utilities in the group.

So for efficiency reasons, to centralize the management and preparation of materials -- these two particular shared services would be services that all of our operations would require.

So learning and development services is something that all of our businesses with employees require.  And organizational project management, that shared service is looking to improve project management techniques, use of the existing tools within the company and so forth.

So these two areas are requirements for all of our utility operations, and the company determined that the most efficient way to provide these services across the utility was to centralize the functions.  

Both of these shared service areas are areas that EEDO can and does derive services from.  The learning and development team, for example, will develop learning and development activities for all levels of staff within the organization.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Sorry, just a few -- I apologize.  Going back to the discussions we had about the reasons for increases in OM&A, so the discussion leading up to the undertaking that you gave, just if I could take you back and ask you a few follow-up questions to that.  I apologize for jumping around a little bit.  

You indicated in the fourth reason that -- excuse me, in your response to 4-SEC-32 part (b), and that's at page 43 of the compendium.  In the -- in your fourth reason for an increase -- and that's fourth carrying on from the previous page, you noted that after acquisition, EEDO's internal audit identified additional issues that required remediation and the remediation caused additional OM&A costs in 2020.

Could you tell us what those additional issues were and what remedial actions have been taken, and the costs associated with those?

MR. KOSKI:  Mr. Sidlofsky, I'll pass over to my colleague, Mr. McCrank.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks.

MR. McCRANK:  Thank you, Mr. Koski.

So this audit we're referred to here is the internal safety audit, and so they came and looked at all of -- all aspects to our health, safety, and environment program and developed, I think, about 60 or so recommendations of gaps to close to meet EPCOR or industry standards if there were gaps on that front.

Things included, you know, for example, our PCB remediation program, that that was an audit item that came out to make sure that we were on track to meet the regulation and that there was not an existing program that was in place at the time to meet that, and so that's an example of something that came out of it.

And an example of an asset management or maintenance item that came out of that was that there were no ground grid studies for our existing municipal stations, nothing on record, and so nothing had been done in any recent years at any rate, so that's a cost that we incurred over the course, actually, of 2020, 2021, and 2022 to conduct.  We had a consultant come in to conduct those ground grid studies to just ensure again public employee safety associated with municipal stations.

Various other safety items as well, and I'll actually ask Mr. Burrell to cover a couple of those items.

It really comes down to, you know, costs associated with getting the utility to an acceptable standard from a health, safety, environment standpoint.

MR. BURRELL:  Thanks, Mr. McCrank.

To add to Mr. McCrank's conversation, some of the items that were not previously identified were any of the confined spaces within our system.

You know, employees knew they were there, but they weren't identified properly, leaving either our own workers or contractors susceptible to going into these spaces without the proper equipment and/or testing ahead of time.

Even just smaller items just to identify access to be addressed at some our substations, the doors weren't all identified properly.  Our parking spots in our shop were not identified correctly.  They had to be corrected with proper painting marks and whatnot.

There were a number of smaller items like that, but they certainly added up for us over the course of that year.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  In the fifth bullet point you mentioned the higher 2020 OM&A costs related to Covid-19 risk mitigation.

Oh, I'm sorry, can you tell me what the associated costs were with those mitigation measures resulting from the internal audit?

MR. KOSKI:  So, Mr. Sidlofsky, I believe that these amounts will be included in the undertaking that we've agreed to for those years.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  That's great.  Thank you.

Now moving on to the fifth bullet point, you noted that there were higher 2020 OM&A costs related to Covid-19 risk mitigation.

I'll ask you if you can quantify the Covid-19 risk mitigation impact on OM&A for 2020 and for, you know, following years as well.  I assume there was still something in -- of that nature happening in 2021.

Is that something that's going to be covered in the table you are preparing, or do you have an answer to that now?

MR. KOSKI:  That's something that we can cover in the table, but the biggest portion of that cost would be increased O&M, OM&A expense as a result of having to undertake proper and effective -- for the various line crews and stuff, so they weren't able to complete as much capital work, but I can probably pass that over to one of -- one of my colleagues to give a little bit more information on that one.

MR. McCRANK:  Thank you, Mr. Koski.  So certainly I think we can identify this within the undertaking that we have agreed to, but -- and this would be no different than any other of the utilities, but of course, line crews, our crew, they work together, and some of the projects require the full crew, some projects require half.   It depends on, I guess, the complexity of the project, but we were at a state for a while there where we were keeping crews half -- we split the crews in half, or the entire crew in half, if you will, so that we -- if half the screw came down with Covid, the other half was still available to respond to emergencies, and so that, you know, that time period, of course, as it did to everybody, impacted our efficiency for some time, and being able to -- and in addition to that, any contractors that we would have been working with as well, just -- there was certainly an impact by virtue of the ability to work in close proximity for a while.

Eventually we got to the point where we had the protective equipment in place to be able to do that, which also came at a cost at that time, as we all experienced, in ensuring that our employees had the proper PPE in place and protocols in place.  We ensured everybody had their own vehicles driving to and from site to avoid the potential for inter-company transmission within vehicles, which increased our, you know, our costs associated with vehicle usage, things like that, but I think we'll certainly have the figures within the undertaking.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks.  And, finally, on the follow-up questions on that table, in the third bullet point you had said that EEDO has worked to revamp how capital is deployed, and you updated your overhead capitalization procedure.

Those items resulted in lower OM&A costs.

Can you talk about how each of those items would have reduced those costs?

MR. KOSKI:  I'm just looking at the screen.

Sorry, Mr. Sidlofsky, which bullet point are you referring to?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It is actually at the top of page 43 of the compendium.

MR. KOSKI:  Oh, okay, thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yep.

MR. KOSKI:  And just to make sure, your question 
was --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Right, so what I'm asking you is to discuss how those items -- how each of those items reduced your OM&A costs, and just as a follow-up to that, can you quantify the reduction for each year?

Now, that second part of it may come out in the table, but if you can -- if you can discuss how those items reduced the OM&A costs, I would appreciate it.

MR. KOSKI:  Sure.  So as we had discussed earlier in the day, EEDO did put some increased focus since EPCOR has acquired ownership on ensuring that staff are appropriately tracking and charging time to capital.

And so that would lower OM&A costs through the correct charging of time to capital versus operating.

We also did have a look at the utility's capital overhead pool to ensure that appropriate costs were being included in that pool, and as a result of the review of those calculations we were able to also find some additional costs to add to the pool which, likewise, would result in a reduction of the OM&A costs.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And in terms of quantifying those reductions, will those show up in the table in response to the undertaking then?

MR. KOSKI:  They will.  They would be above the materiality level.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thank you.  Could I take you to page --


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Sidlofsky --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry?  Yeah?

MR. MORAN:  I'm just wondering, is this a good time to break?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Oh.  I still have a fair bit more of OM&A, so now would be as good a time as any, so I'm happy to take the break now if you'd like.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Let's resume at 4:15.
--- Recess taken at 4:02 p.m.
--- On resuming at 4:15 p.m.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm going to take you to pages 47 and 48 of the Staff compendium, and you will recall a short time ago I was asking you about learning and development and technical training and organizational project management.

I would like to move on from that discussion.

When you responded to Schools' presettlement conference clarification question number 5C, you gave additional costs in HSE regular and operational support services for every year between 2018 and 2023.

Similar to my questions about learning and development organizational project management, can you tell me why the additional amounts for those services were necessary to operate EEDO's distribution services?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, I can provide some commentary there.

So on page -- this is page 48, on page 48 you listed three services, health, safety and environment, regulatory and operational support.  So for each of these three areas, these are services being provided by the affiliate in Ontario, EEOMI.

So these services in particular are services that EEDO had identified as required services for operation of the utility.  So from a health and safety environment perspective, even as part of MAADs, EUI had noticed that there wasn't a dedicated health and safety person and so in terms of Health and safety, when running utilities, we would be of the opinion that a health and safety expert is a requirement for safe and reliable operation of the utility.  And as part of MAADs, I believe that the part of the MAAD application had that additional health and safety would be provided.

Now, we decided to provide that, or Ontario decided to provide that as a shared service.


So this head count, instead of being embedded as a full FTE within EEDO is being shared with all of the Ontario operations to try to make it as cost-effective as possible.

It would be the same and similar story for the regulatory and operational support.  So the regulatory item would be with respect to providing regulatory services to the utility, which is a requirement.


And then operational support, again another service provided by the Ontario affiliate, really what that position does is it helps to enable the capital program that the utility has.  So it helps with project management, governance, setting up projects, really allowing the utility to perform capital as efficiently as possible.

And again, all of these services required for operation of the utility but using a shared service model to help make the cost as efficient as possible.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, thank you for that.  I'm going to move on to a couple of questions about EPCOR water services, or EWSI shared services.

At page 49 of the compendium we've reproduced table 4.4.2-3 from exhibit 4 of your application and it showed the EWSI shared services costs allocated to EEDO from 2019 actual to 2023, with breakdowns into four categories of services.

The -- in the application you said that those costs are directly charged based on time spent supporting EEDO's operations, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And we can see from the table that these costs are expected to be flat from 2021 to 2023.

Across those three years, the figures, the amounts for each of those services are pretty close across all three years.  So my question is:  Are those amounts, or those costs all based on roughly the same amount of time each year?  And -- well, I'll let you answer that question first.

MR. KOSKI:  For sure, so the amounts are similar and the reason for that is EEDO  expects to be receiving roughly about the same amount of services from EWSI for the '23 test year.

So EWSI historically was pretty heavily involved with initial integration of the utility so you can see back in the 2019 actual, the supply chain management costs were pretty high, along with 2020.  And what that related to was helping EEDO set up its inventory modules to be in line with the various systems that EPCOR uses.

So there is -- EEDO has some familiarity with the people within EWSI and will use for really for more one-off support within these four areas, so supply chain management, government and public affairs, human resources, and project management.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Are those activities project-based or are they sort of daily operational activities?

MR. KOSKI:  They would -- it would primarily be more so for one-off project-type items with are a small amount of assistance is needed, for example, HR that we have the Ontario utilities have one shared HR person for all of our operations in Ontario.  Obviously one head count split between multiple businesses can't handle everything that comes across, and so, again, yeah, it would be more so one-off support required by the utility.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry, was someone going to step in there or was that your complete answer?


MR. KOSKI:  I don't believe anybody else was.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, thank you.  Just a terminology question.  Could I take you to page 50 of the compendium.

It speaks to the services being provided by EWSI.

On the highlighted line there, you said that:

"Services provided by EWSI have become nominal and are expected to remain so."


Sorry, but could you just tell me what you mean by nominal and why you are expecting those services to remain that way?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, so if you refer back to the prior page, please, Tim.  So none of the individual service areas broached -- are expected to broach the $10,000 materiality level, so I think the term "nominal" just referring to none of the service areas being provided by EWSI being material from a variance, or that 10,000-dollar threshold standpoint.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, you just -- then you are just -- you are referring to them as non-material then, right?

MR. KOSKI:  Sure, fair enough.  That's fair.

And we do continue -- we expect it to continue along.  The majority of support for these types of areas will come through the corporate shared service costs.

Here again, this is a little bit more one-off where the EEDO people have some familiarity with the people in EWSI and are just looking for services on an as-needed basis.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, thank you.  I'm going to move to some questions about EOOMI and EOUI shared services.

I'll take you to page 51 of the compendium, please.

And this again is an extract from exhibit 4 of your application.

And in exhibit 4 EEDO provided the EOOMI and EOUI shared services costs allocated to EEDO in 2019- to 2023.  In line 5 of that table, and we've highlighted it for you, we can see that in the customer service area the cost increased by about $25,000 in 2021, and it's increasing by about $47,000 in the 2022 bridge year, with the test year cost being similar to 20 -- excuse me, to 2022.

At point (e) on page 73 of Exhibit 4 -- and that's at page 52 of the compendium, just on the next page -- you've said that the customer-service manager had spent additional time in setting up billing and customer-service activities for one of EPCOR's new regulated utilities and spent a higher than normal amount of time on that implementation.

So my first question is:  When you are referring to that new regulated utility, is that EEDO?

MR. KOSKI:  No, that would be for one of -- one of the -- EPCOR's Ontario group's other utility companies.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So then how does that increase the allocation to EEDO?  Or how does that increase -- excuse me, how does that increase the cost to EEDO?

MR. KOSKI:  Sure, so what the explanation in EEON (sic) on page 73 of Exhibit 4 was trying to convey was that for the -- up until the 2021 year, this particular individual that was providing the shared services to the various subsidiaries in Ontario was spending a higher than normal amount of time performing activities for one of the new regulated operations that was coming online, and where they were building out the customer support required for that.

So for the 2021 year, this -- the individual providing the services here spent more than what we'd anticipate as go-forward time dedicated to setting up that new utility's customer-service area, and going forward from -- from the 2022 and go-forward years, using the functional cost causation of number of customers, we would anticipate that this individual will be providing additional and more services to EEDO just based on the customer count of that utility versus the other utilities in Ontario.

So really, what it was trying to say was the '21 costs were actually low in EEDO, and the reason that they were low in EEDO was because the individual was spending more time than would otherwise be -- than we would otherwise anticipate going forward.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So if I can try to paraphrase that a bit.  It's not that -- I think what you are suggesting is that the 2021 cost of just under $31,000 isn't representative of -- is it of the time that person was -- is typically spending with the EEDO because they were pulled away to this other project; is that it?  So -- and I guess the corollary to that is that the values shown for 2022 and 2023 are more representative of that person's involvement with EEDO?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct, yeah --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

MR. KOSKI:  -- you've described that correctly, Mr. Sidlofsky.  Essentially, in the 2021 period, the individual providing the services spent what we would consider a disproportionate amount of time providing services to another one of the Ontario operations, and the '22 tests -- or, sorry, the '22 bridge and test year amounts would be more in line with the service that we provided to the various utilities on a go-forward basis.

Okay, and it is the 2022 and 2023 test years then that are going to reflect your cost causation allocator approach?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct, yeah, that is correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

MR. MORAN:  Could I just ask a follow-up question on that?  So the individual was -- was devoted elsewhere, so EEDO was fine without all of the services that they would normally get.

So what's the justification for increased use of his time now that he's available again?

MR. HESSELINK:  I'll address that.  I don't know if I'd say we were fine without it.  Sometimes with a smaller utility you find ways to scrape by.  We've heard from our customers, even, in, you know, with the items we spoke about, such as the customer experience digitally, addressing customer engagement, things like that, we've been -- there has been opportunity to do more than what we've done in the past, and so this -- this resource will allow us to better collect and gather that feedback, as well as better respond to the needs of our customers going forward, so more involved with it, helping our customer-service team, dealing with -- you know, there's always issues with customers that have to be addressed, but as well, gathering that input and that feedback to bring a more representative picture of what our customers are looking for.

So, you know, similar to, in the year of a rate filing, a lot of folks end up kind of doing double-duty. This was sort of an instance of that.  But the need was identified, and it's necessary going forward.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Excuse me.  I'll take you to page 53 of the compendium.  And I have a couple of questions about EOOMI and EOUI shared services again.

EOOMI and EOUI allocate Ontario facilities and head office corporate amounts to EEDO in 2029 to 2023 (sic), and for 2019 to 2021 costs were based on time spent, while in 2022 and 2023 costs are based on your specific functional cost causation head-office salaries.

In the table on page 53, Ontario facilities and head-office corporate allocations are two types of costs that EOOMI and EOUI has allocated to EEDO since 2019, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And in your application you've said that Ontario facilities refers to the office space and leasehold costs for EOOMI's employees that support EEDO.

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

MR. KOSKI:  Yeah.  So these would be costs incurred by those individuals, so to give them office space and ancillary costs, things like travel and -- et cetera, to the -- required for the performance of their services to the utility.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So I know that in your response to 4 Staff 53G -- and that's -- we've reproduced that at page 54 -- you were asked about what the head-office corporate allocations consist of, and your answer was that it's a cost allocated from the parent EUI to EOOMI and then to EEDO, but you didn't say what that cost really is.

Can you tell me what those costs include?

MR. KOSKI:  Yeah, sure.  So these would be corporate shared-service costs provided to the -- provided to EOOMI.

So these would be -- all of the operations under EPCOR are part of the corporate cost allocation methodology, and so this would be the Ontario head office's portion of those corporate shared-service costs allocated to them.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, just so I'm a little bit clearer.  Do those head-office corporate costs include rent on your office space in Edmonton?  I'm just trying to get a better sense of what's included in that category of costs.

MR. KOSKI:  Yeah, so, Mr. Sidlofsky, it would be all of the costs that are described in Exhibit 4 --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mm-hmm.

MR. KOSKI:  -- related to -- I'm just finding the exact page here.  Just give me a moment.

My apologies.

Sort of beginning on page 82 of Exhibit 4, so it would be all of the corporate shared services.  So the Ontario head office, just like any other operation at EPCOR would get a proportionate share of the corporate shared service costs, all listed similar to table 4.4.2-13 in Exhibit 4.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

MR. KOSKI:  So these are costs incurred by the employees that are part of EOOMI, and are required costs of them providing the services to EEDO.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So are those costs are being directly allocated to EEDO because those services are all being provided to EEDO?

MR. KOSKI:  No, those services would be provided to EOOMI.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mm-hmm.

MR. KOSKI:  For them to complete -- to be able to complete the services that are then provided to EEDO.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Right, I understand it's not a direct step from the head office down to EEDO.  It runs through EOOMI, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So there is an allocation to EOOMI from the head office, and then EOOMI, in turn, allocates a portion of those costs to EEDO?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct, as a cost of it providing its services to all of the Ontario operations.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, so the costs that are allocated from EOOMI to EEDO are all costs that are incurred by EOOMI -- excuse me, EOOMI in providing services to EEDO?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

MR. DODDS:  Or another way to say, Mr. Sidlofsky, none of those costs that are borne by EOOMI are duplicated in the costs charged to EEDO.

The EOOMI would, the same as discussed within Exhibit 4, would have cost drivers and cost allocation.  So it would be a separate step and not duplicative of the drivers and the allocations included for EEDO itself.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, at -- while you've got Exhibit 4 open there, at page 69 of Exhibit 4, EEDO listed the rationale for the allocator for each service and function in table 4.4.2-5 except for the last two items in that table.

Can you discuss the allocator head office salaries assigned for items 8 and 9, and what it is and -- well first of all, what is that allocator?

MR. KOSKI:  Sure, so essentially what that allocator is is the proportionate share of head office -- or the Toronto offices costs that are allocated to each of the operations.

So, for example, if 10 percent of the Toronto office salary costs are allocated to a given operation, that given operation would get 10 percent of the Ontario facility costs.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Is that based on time spent working for -- working on EEDO matters?

MR. KOSKI:  No, that would be based on the cost allocation methodology for each of the individuals.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, and that's the case for both categories 8 and 9?

MR. KOSKI:  Correct, yeah.  And the idea there being these costs are being incurred to support the employees in doing their work.  And so based on how much they're allocating of their costs, that proportionate share of the cost to support those employees should be allocated to the respective operations.

And those are, sorry, those are costs being allocated from the head office to EOOMI?  Or from EOOMI to --


MR. KOSKI:  No, so this would be -- so the Toronto head office would be EOOMI.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Right.

MR. KOSKI:  So that would be the proportionate amount of the salaries for those Toronto head office folks being allocated to the operations that they're supporting.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, thanks.

MR. KOSKI:  EEDO being one of them.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  I have a couple of questions about EEDO in allocated incorporated costs.  Page 55 of the compendium.

Just by way of introduction, table 4.4.2-9 in Exhibit 4 which we've reproduced here lists all the services and functions with associated allocators that EUI allocate to EEDO.

And I'm wondering if the services and functions that you've listed in the table are a complete set of bundled services that EUI allocate to all of its affiliated business units in Canada and the U.S., or are those specifically allocated to EEDO.

MR. KOSKI:  No, this would be the bundle of services that the corporate shared services group provides to all subsidiaries.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, is the EEDO in a position to select from that basket of services?  Or is that EUI's decision to allocate all of those items to all of its -- all of the members of its corporate family?

MR. KOSKI:  So the way it works is being part of the corporate family, these services are provided to all the subsidiaries.

And so what we do to -- what EEDO does to take advantage of that is they use the services that are provided.  And the services that are provided are significant and pretty wide ranging, but I guess to answer the first part of your question, these costs come along with being part of the corporate group.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So for example, item 9 is talent development.  Is EEDO actually -- what kind of services does EEDO receive in relation to talent development?

MR. KOSKI:  Sure, no, no, so the way that will work and the way that we have it set up in Ontario, so currently the various operations in Ontario share a single human resources boots-on-the-ground resource that's in EOOMI.  And so the shared service treatment of that person allows for good cost efficiency, and per the exhibit -- just get you the approximate percentage from Exhibit 4. 

So for HR services provided by EOOMI it is about 0.48 of an FTE that EEDO is getting.

So I'm sure as you can imagine, less than half a person can't possible be an expert in all of the different subject matters that come with human resources.  And so what the corporate service model will allow is access to that expertise for things like developing policies or supporting labour negotiations when they're ongoing, particularly for talent development.

They would provide consulting, or if the boots-on-the-ground person had items that they weren't sure how to handle them or needed some support with a particular aspect of talent development, then the people in corporate would provide some of these services.  As well as providing a backbone, like I said, for things like overall policy development.

It also provides an ability to have a human resources person report to a human resources professional as opposed to a general operations.  Oh, sorry, one second. 

MR. McCRANK:  Mr. Sidlofsky, if I could just add, you know, I'd just like to take an opportunity to say, to draw the linkage, you know, how did the Collingwood ratepayers benefit from the employees accessing something like talent development as an added service?

So as I referred to earlier, there was a retention issue at the utility in the years between 2013 to 2018 which impacted the ability to deliver on capital, and that put the Collingwood ratepayers at risk, and so it is these types of functions that I think you can appreciate, and I'm sure the organizations here -- a lot of the organizations have it, but it is these types of functions now that an employee with an EEDO can benefit from, that drive engagement, drive retention, drive opportunities to keep them within the utility base, and that's to the benefit of the ratepayer in the long run, just as an example of how this drives a tangible benefit to our ratepayers.

MR. KOSKI:  Sorry, Mr. Sidlofsky.  Maybe one other point that I would make there, because I think human resources is probably a pretty good example, so if you looked at table 4.4.2-13 in Exhibit 4 -- Tim, would you mind going there?  Oh, yes, it is page 84.

So from an allocated corporate cost perspective, the HR function in the 2023 test year is allocating just under $130,000.

If you take that, say, the average manager position providing those services out of the corporate shared-service area is about $150,000, that's less than an FTE, and what that FTE is providing is access to all of the services listed in table 4.4.2-9, so total rewards, human-resources consulting, talent development, learning development, as opposed to an embedded head count which, of course, couldn't hope to provide all of those services, and doing it at a pretty cost-effective manner.

So that's one of the key benefits we, as a EEDO, believes that the corporate shared-service cost is providing, is access to a pretty broad suite of services that wouldn't be provided by having individual head counts embedded within the utility.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm just going to pick one other category, executive and executive assistants at EUI.

The executives you are referring to there would be two levels above EEDO, correct?  Because you have got EUI, and then costs are allocated to EOOMI and then down to EEDO.

So what did the EUI executives do for EEDO?

MR. KOSKI:  Sure, so the suite of costs that the executive would be would be our corporate-related executives, so it would include individuals like our CEO, CFO, and our corporate services senior vice-president, as well as our -- I think those would be the main ones, actually.

So what they provide, again, is -- from EEDO's perspective is more from the governance and oversight side of the ledger.

So one of the things that EPCOR brings to the table for EEDO is access to more senior levels of individuals being able to provide -- prepare and provide policies, governance requirements, and similar types of services.

So the executive team at the parent company would provide those types of services to the corporate group as a whole, which would then allow those services to be provided to the subsidiaries at EEDO in this case.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Did they prepare policies -- excuse me, do they prepare policies that actually govern the operations of EEDO?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, we've anticipated -- or not anticipated.  My apologies.

We've -- we use the majority of the EPCOR's corporate policies as accounting policies, HR policies, these types of things, yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And those policies have come from the executive level at EUI?

MR. KOSKI:  Well, they would be responsible for maintenance, oversight, approval, all of those activities from a policy perspective, and bringing certain policies to the board of directors at EPCOR for approval as well.

So, as I had mentioned, a big portion of this is obviously governance.  Executive-level services provided do tend to be more of a governance nature.  But the requirements for EEDO to maintain these types of policies which are required for financial reporting purposes, for regulatory purposes, you know, to make sure that the HR policy is to make sure that we can retain people, these are all policies that EEDO requires.  The services provided by the parent company replace the need for the operating unit to do this on their own.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I will just go to one more area.

Supply chain management, is that all head office-related?  Mail room, disaster recovery, procurement, all of -- items 1 through 6 in that table, are those all related to the head office, or do they somehow filter down to EEDO's facilities as well.

MR. KOSKI:  So it would be a combination.  So some of the supply chain costs would be with respect to the facilities in Edmonton where the shared-service people are located and are used to provide the services -- that the shared-service groups provide to the utilities.

And some of the supply chain costs would be, I'd call them a little bit more direct as well.  So it would be things like coming up with corporate-wide policies for procurement and those types of disaster recovery planning, services that all of the subsidiaries could use as well.

So I would say it's a combination, partly costs incurred with respect to the people who are providing the services of the corporate shared services, as well as some more direct, indirect type of services.

And I think actually we've -- maybe just one quick second.

I will just pass it over to Mr. McCrank to maybe provide a little bit more information on some of the services that supply chain has helped EEDO with.

MR. McCRANK:  Thank you, Mr. Koski.

Yeah, I think the one thing I'd like to highlight, I guess, with supply chain is they've certainly been very helpful on the procurement front.

EEDO has benefited from the economies of scale with procurement with EPCOR at large.  There is different master service agreements that EPCOR has negotiated that we've been able to benefit from within EEDO.

On top of that, they've helped us with a lot of our contract negotiations with our vegetation management, three-year contract that we have with Davey Tree (ph), our substation maintenance program that we hadn't -- we hadn't had one before, a contract in place with KPC to provide that substation maintenance, and so they're helping us to negotiate and write those terms and conditions to ensure that we're getting a fair deal.

And very tactically, you know, we had an issue with meters in 2022 from a global supply chain standpoint related to the chip issue, and supply chain was able to help is in getting through EDTI and EDTI's inventory, some level of meters that helped us get through a stage where we were awaiting our next order from our vendor here in Ontario.

So they've been very helpful from that context in getting us -- ensuring that we have good contracts in place with our vendors.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  All right.

MR. KOSKI:  All right, and thanks, Mr. McCrank.  Mr. Sidlofsky, maybe one more item that I would point out with respect to the corporate shared services.

Tim, if you wouldn't mind going to page 84 of Exhibit 4.

So Exhibit 4 here shows the total EUI corporate shared-service costs proposed to be allocated in the 2023 test year, so 524,000.

Another way to look at this or way that we've thought of looking at this when it comes to managing utility, again, taking a -- from an FTE perspective, if on average you need professionals and those professionals would be approximately at the manager level to have the appropriate skill set, and an all-in manager cost of about 150,000, that 524,000 essentially would be the equivalent of about three to three-and-a-half FTEs.  

And from a scale perspective, and the range of services that are shown on that, on the prior table, not just the actual functions themselves, HR, but the subspecialties, access to really subject-matter experts across each of the shared service areas, EEDO continues to believe that compared to trying to embed some of these services and not getting the full range of services possible, that this is actually a pretty reasonable and efficient way to procure a very large and diverse bucket of services.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I know we're just coming up on 5:00 o'clock.  I just have one or two more questions about the PNG A category and the EUI shared corporate services.

I don't think I need any indulgence from the Board.  I think can I wrap this up by 5:00.  If you're okay, Mr. Moran.

MR. MORAN:  Sure.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm going to ask you, to save a bit of time, just hold that page open that you've got in Exhibit 4, table 4.4.2-13.

We've also reproduced that at page 58 of the Staff compendium.  However, it is perfectly fine here too.

I am looking at the public and government affairs cost that was allocated to EEDO, and that increased from $10,574 in 2021 to $21,123 for the 2023 test year.  


At page 59 of the compendium, you explained -- and also at page 61 of the compendium, so, that was in response to interrogatory 4-Staff-54D.  Did you explained that the increase was primarily due to increases in the allocation percentage for EEDO.

You said that the cost driver is net income and EEDO was anticipating earning its ROE for the 2023 test year as opposed to having lower earnings in 2021.

So, the overall costs of the EUI department hasn't changed, but the fact that EEDO is projecting net income in 2023 has led to a change in the allocation, correct?

MR. KOSKI:  Yes, that's correct.  I'll just quickly draw your attention to table 4.4.2-9 on page 77 of Exhibit 4.

So the cost driver for two of the public and government affairs allocators is net income, and so the way that will work is, to the extent that the  subsidiary has net income in the period, they will get allocated costs.


So with EEDO's relatively low net income that's been achieved since EPCOR has taken over, what this has meant is that really for a couple of the functional areas under the corporate shared services allocations were happening at a lower than anticipated rate.  

So once -- upon conclusion of the application here and once we rebase the rates, we would anticipate that the utility will be back to earning more its regular ROE number with a corresponding net income, and the cost causation will follow to result in a little bit higher allocations from that area.

So no change in the services being provided to the utility.  Essentially trueing up the cost allocation to what it would be if a more regular anticipated ROE is earned by the utility. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So I guess similar to questions I had earlier about other categories of spending, are you suggesting here that EEDO was under-spending or was being under-billed for those services previously?

MR. KOSKI:  So I wouldn't refer to it as underbilled.  It is just a result of the cost allocation methodology, the driver for two of the PNG areas is net income.  The corporate areas have determined that is a reasonable 
cost -- a functional cost causation allocator for those costs.

As a result of that, with EEDO having relatively low ROE and net income over the EPCOR ownership period, it has resulted, just mechanically, in the -- in less costs coming across from that area versus if EEDO was earning its full ROE.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Does EUI provide corporate communication services to EEDO?

MR. KOSKI:  There would be some, for sure, yeah.  EEDO would use the PNG group to help.

If you just give me a quick second.

I will pass it over to Mr. McCrank to provide further.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sure, and I might as well ask because Mr. McCrank is going to give the answer anyway.

Similarly, does EUI manage community relations, for example, for EEDO?  When EEDO is doing customer outreach, is EUI involved?

MR. McCRANK:  Yes, they are.  The PNG A group in corporate handles our community investment areas in Collingwood, so we've been fortunate to be able to make a lot of community investment over the past five years and certainly increase that through a fund at the corporate level referred to as the Heart and Soul Fund, which was an increased community investment that was offered to all of our operating areas through -- to help our communities get through COVID.  


And so they were very instrumental in getting out into the communities and finding out where those needs were, and facilitating those investments, those community investments.  


And they continue to build those bridges and those relationships.  They are the ones that communicate and lead the communication campaigns in relation to public safety, and they were certainly the ones that led the customer engagement surveys and customer participation surveys that facilitated the development of our distribution system plan and our rate filing.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So to be clear, those are led out of Edmonton?

MR. McCRANK:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Moran, thank you for the couple of minutes.  Those are my questions for today.  I'm still on OM&A, but I think this is a good time to stop.

I will mention one thing, though.  I had sent a copy of the Board's 2016 cost of capital update letter to my friend Mr. King, and I have mentioned that when it comes to my very brief questions on cost of capital, I will be referring to that letter.  So I will be giving that an exhibit number tomorrow.  It's not part of our compendium.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.  Mr. King, anything you want to add before we adjourn for today?

MR. KING:   Nothing from me, Mr. Chairman.

MR. MORAN:  Okay, well thank you very much, all and we'll resume tomorrow at 9:30.

Thank you.

MR. KING:   Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:04 p.m.
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